

92  
RESPONSE

EAST AFR. PROT.

N<sup>o</sup> 33230

O-O  
D-3230

100-10 SEP 05

part 454

1905

14 Aug

and covering paper

Solik Expedition

Trans-Sudan's Report - Object attained. All officers complete.

(Minutes)

W. Ellis

? Just past for Afr. 771 without  
act. to medical Report & without map  
(for the present at all events)

C.O.A.

179

NOV 18/9

Jent Manning  
Mc Ginty

at one

The object of the exploration  
was - the recovery of the women, children  
gratified by the Solik from  
the Massai has been accomplished  
at a loss of 2 Massai being killed  
84 Massai were K. B. R. private  
killed -  
About 92 Solik were killed

It is not clear whether a port is to be  
permanently maintained in the  
Sobek country, nor what progress  
is being made with the road which  
the British have been ordered to  
make.

It does not appear that the country  
offers much encouragement to  
foreign settlers at present - the best  
available.

With regard to the cost of maintaining  
600 Masai & 300 Lambara  
The former are favourably reported  
on the latter are not very <sup>13</sup> ~~now~~  
on the job.

The only regrettable incident is the still  
noted by the British dep't on 1st Feb that  
only in the infestation the British  
Army in the infestation the British  
Army had come to meet the rebels.  
A Det. Hoddit came to meet the rebels  
with tanks of <sup>under</sup> but was  
apparently killed by Masai. In addition  
to further damage to this

The Sobek country is an extremely difficult country  
to operate in and requires an open border  
area well carried out. George's Lambara  
forces did not do much real damage to the British

Force was of great value, firstly in providing a  
combination of the two tribes against each other and  
quite a possibility at one time, [and secondly from  
a political point of view in inducing a somewhat  
treacherous tribe to accosting us to furnish a  
neighboring tribe for our demands.]

The establishment of permanent port in the  
Kisii country beyond 100 m. was under consideration  
when I left East Africa, and this no doubt  
will eventually be done and is sound  
policy. The Kisii country is conveniently  
suited to settlement, the British expect to see  
with soon the effect of keeping the Kisi quiet,  
and it seems possible also of attacking the  
Lambara from the Nandi which is of  
great importance still.

1000. 30/4.

John receipt and express  
satisfaction at the result.  
Note Major Humpage's good  
work and say that it  
is presumed that a "Desp."  
relating to field operations  
will follow or that this  
order will be noticed with  
others in such a despatch.

Hence the rules as to  
publication of desp's in the  
Gazette, is a preliminary to  
granting medals etc. been  
communicated to the E.O.

Protectrule?

Not. Dec 6  
as inc'd

W. Read.

I have not been able to find that  
the regulations have been sent out —  
certainly not since the Protectrule  
came under the C.O.

They will be included in the K.A.R.  
Regulations, which are now being  
prepared.

Yours truly etc

W. Read

? also send copy of direct. Service Survey  
topographic report to D.A.C., C.F., (see  
General Gribell's minute on the subject.)

W.W.B.

Dec 6

W. W. B.

7/2

The copy of map sent you  
8/1/06  
LBB

WIGGINS HOUSE,

ST. JAMES'S SQUARE, S.W.

December 13<sup>th</sup> 1905

94

The Director of Military Operations presents his compliments

to the Under-Secretary of State for the Colonies,

and will refer to \_\_\_\_\_

Ms. 33230 of the 9<sup>th</sup> instant, forwarding a copy of

Commission Sir D Stewart to [redacted] Wilton No. 204 (Add) Aug<sup>ust</sup> 1905

on the subject of the Stark Panther Expedition

Mr. [redacted] is in communication with the [redacted] and \_\_\_\_\_ by

tel. [redacted] Gare.

COMMISSIONER'S OFFICE

C.O.

MOMBASA 33230

EAST AFRICA PROTECTORATE.

No. 454

August 14th 1905 SEP 05



Sir,

With reference to my telegram No. 453 of May 29th, I have the honour to transmit herewith copies of reports by Major Pope-Hennessy and Mr. Partington on our Gombe Expedition.

1. The expedition set out with feeble resistance, a fact which is to be ascribed to the strength of the column and the precautions taken to guard against any sudden surprise.

2. The celerity with which it was sent has been attained; the tribesmen have now surrendered, and I do not anticipate any further trouble with them. As a punishment they have been ordered to make a portage road through their country.

3. The country was very hilly and difficult for troops, as will be seen from the excellent sketch map attached which was made by Lieutenant Leveson-York of Brigadier King's African Rifles and great credit is due to all ranks for conveying the captured stock in safety out of the country.

Principal Secretary of State

for the Colonies,

All

Downing Street,

London, S.W.

All the Kaval women and children who were taken by the  
Sikhs together with the majority of the stolen cattle have  
now been recovered.

5. Major Poole-Hennessey who was in command of the column  
carried out his work in a most thorough manner and it was  
owing to the precautions taken by him that the enemy never  
had a chance of effecting a surprise or a night attack.  
Their failure in this respect is due to the officers mentioned  
in his report all appear to have done good work.

6. I also have the honour to attach a report by Dr. Goedeker  
who accompanied the column as Deputy of Medical Officer.

I have the honour to be,

Sir,

Your most obedient,

Humble servant,

2

## O.C.'s Report

From

Officer Commanding SOTIK PUNITIVE FORCE.

To

Officer Commanding Troops,

East Africa Protectorate.

NAIROBI.

17th July 1905.

Sir,

I have the honour to submit the following report upon our recent operations against the SOTIK to which I have attached the Appendices called for in Appendix III of the King's Regulations.

In accordance with your Operation orders dated 20th May 1905 and H.M. Commissioner's instructions the Punitive Force entered SOTIK in two Columns strength

~~distribution.~~ as per margin moving from KERICHO & NIJOMO respectively  
 I Column (NIJOMO)  
 for POPP-KERICHO  
 and K.A.R.  
 2nd Syd K.A.R.  
 3rd Syd K.A.R.  
 4th Syd K.A.R.  
 Regiment I.K.A.R.  
 MAI Levies.

II Column (NIJOMO)  
 for KARLOW I.K.A.R.  
 and Syd K.A.R.  
 5th Syd K.A.R.  
 6th Syd K.A.R.  
 Regiment I.K.A.R.

IV and operated from the SOTIK POST where a junction was effected on the 9th July.

The daily detail of operations are recorded in the Staff Diary which is attached and marked Appendix A while the Operation Order on which

they were based are attached and marked Appendix B. The Intelligence available respecting the enemy, as also the information to hand about the country prior to entering SOTIK was unreliable in quality and small in amount. Estimates of the enemy's strength varied

from

from 5,000 to 1,400 fighting men; his actual strength I believe to have been about 1,200.

Similarly the amount of stock held by the SOTIK was greatly exaggerated - I doubt if they owned more than from 6,000 to 8,000 head of cattle in all.

Briefly the course of operations was as follows:-

On the 3rd June No 1 Column marched from KUOGO on the railway to KILIMANJARO MOUNTAIN; whence after establishing an advanced base it moved on the 5th June to SOTIK getting touch with the enemy on the 7th June. Only small parties of the enemy were met with which were dispersed with ease by patrols of LASAT Levies supported by riflemen covering the front and flanks of the Column. The SOTIK POST was reached on the 9th June at a junction formed with No 2 Column which leaving KUOGO on the 6th June and reached the SOTIK POST on the 8th without opposition.

As information regarding the enemy's numbers, fighting quality and intentions was of the vaguest I decided to operate in one column until these points had been sufficiently clarified up, by actual contact to justify movements with detachments weak in themselves but able to cover a wide extent of country.

Information brought in by reconnoitring patrols on the 10th & 11th pointing to large herds of SOTIK Stock being on the border of the neighbouring and kindred SUMT tribe I decided to capture these so as to endeavour to bring the enemy to action and at the same time impress the SUMT (reported to be 4000 strong) with the inadvisability of sheltering a tribe hostile to Government and keep them from throwing in their lot with the SOTIK. A reconnoitring patrol on

the 12th having located these herds in the KIYUNG -  
 NDANAI - APWEE hills they were raided on the 13th,  
 by parties of NDANAI & 3rd K.N.C.B. supported by a Flying  
 Column on to which the raiding parties drove the  
 captured stock that night. During the night a  
 strong party of natives crept up close to the sareba  
 but as I thought they might be BURET and was anxious  
 not to shed the blood of this tribe unless driven to  
 do so I had then warned them if they attack they  
 would be fired on and advised them to go away and  
 said their Chiefs in next day to see Mr PARTINGTON,  
 Political Officer with the Column, in whom they had  
 confidence. This they did on our return on the 14th  
 to the base camp I had made on the SISI River. It  
 was found that among the captured stock were a cer-  
 tain number of BURET cattle our possession of which  
 enabled Mr PARTINGTON to induce the BURET Chief to  
 hand us 400 head of SOTIK cattle which was followed  
 by the surrender of another 400 head at the end of  
 June.

During the whole of the operations in SOTIK our pa-  
 trols consistently reported that all cattle trails  
 seen led into LUNGU while the intelligence received  
 from LUMBEWA & LUNGU sources was to the effect that  
 the cattle were hidden in the hilly and forest dis-  
 tricts of KIHAYLAYON, HAKHUA, & GOYWA, a mountain  
 in the LUNGU MAU i.e. in the opposite direction.  
 To push on into BURET would inevitably lead to a col-  
 lision with that tribe whose offence - hiding the  
 cattle of their kinsmen the SOTIK - was <sup>one</sup> which I  
 agreed

agreed with the Political Officer was due more to ignorance of us and our ways than deliberate hostility to Government. In view of this, to give the ~~right~~ time to come to their senses and to punish those SOTIK not actually in UMMI I marched to the AMALYA on the southern edge of SOTIK and worked out the forest, the KIRLAYLAKON, KABO & ~~KOTEN~~ districts. To cover more ground and surprise the enemy while a Column under Capt. HAYDOCK did this I took a long road across the forest to the SOTIK POST with I & 4 Companies and pushed on into the LUGUMA MAU. These detachments united at the SOTIK POST on the 25th June having captured a few hundred head of cattle in small herds and inflicted some loss on the enemy between the 19th & the 25th June during which period raiding parties covered considerable distances and thoroughly searched a wide extent of difficult and broken country. Attention is drawn to the entry in the Staff Diary for the 26th June.

On the 27th a Flying Column preceded by strong patrols moved into and worked out the SAYANIA district returning to the SOTIK POST on the 30th with a little loot.

The 'NUN-T' Chief on the 2nd July brought in some 400 cattle which raised the total head of stock taken to over 2000 head. As it was now evident that the SOTIK were not large cattle owners, that their losses of stock ~~were~~ men if pushed too far would cripple the tribe hereafter while the feebleness of their resistance proved that they had received enough punishment, at

The request of the Political Officer I released all prisoners taken so as to enter into negotiations with the Chiefs. The progress and result of these negotiations will no doubt be fully reported by the Political Officer to his immediate superiors and is beyond my province to refer to.

GRAY'S FARM, near MOLO, having been prepared as a quarantine camp, I marched there on the 3rd July with the 1<sup>st</sup> stock under convoy of 3 Coys 3rd L.I.R. & Machine 500 MASAI levies. Burdened with stock this march over steep hills & gorges covered with dense forest and bamboo thicket was a trying one to troops, levies and porters; a road having to be cut for some 50 miles to enable to climb, which with its convoy was 7 m long, to pass in single file.

GRAY'S farm was reached on the 8th July with 2012 head of cattle and 3000 sheep & goats.

The SOTIK PUNITIVE FORCE was demobilized on the 13th Inst.

During the course of operations the Force under my command experienced the following casualties:-

Killed in Action 2 MASAI levies.

Injured in action, 1 Private 3rd L.I.R. & 4 MASAI levies.

Of the enemy 92 were killed, mostly by rifle-fire. I am unable to estimate the number wounded which is probably small as such firing as took place at very close range in tick bush. Throughout the enemy's resistance was slight owing I believe to the facts that they thought that with the long warning of incoming trouble which they had they had got their

their stock into safety and so would not have to defend it and perhaps also to the fact that ARAB KILLED, their principal chief, was killed by one of our patrols when we first gained touch about the 8th June. Our ammunition expenditure amounted to 13711 rounds on .303 rifle ammunition and 14 of 1000 rounds in addition.

With the exception of Lieutenant L.P. GARDEN, ~~and others~~, invalidated for Gastric-enteritis the health of European ranks was excellent, that of the native ranks was good. As the Force operated in well watered country from 7000 to 9000 ft above sea level illness with a perfect climate this is not to be wondered at.

The behaviour of the rank & file throughout was good; their marching excellent in view of the fact that they carried a rolled blanket & jersey, 250 rounds ammunition and 4 days rations on the person, a weight of 37 lbs. During most of the time operations lasted the column were rationed on looted stock alone.

I was particularly pleased with the remarkable marching of Capt MAYOCH'S or No VI (MAGAI) Coy 3rd R.A.R. sections of which several times covered 40 miles in the day supporting raiding parties of MUSAI spearmen.

Capt JENNINGS or No IX (Burmese) Coy 3rd R.A.R. set a good example to the rest of the force in discipline, endurance and keenness for work.

Our local tribesmen, 600 of whom accompanied the force, I cannot speak too highly. Under the painstaking guidance of Mr McCLURE (Asst. Political Officer) they showed a readiness to obey my orders, and a tribal discipline which restrained them from killing

non-combatants which I submit is even more worthy of praise than the tireless energy they invariably displayed in following up the enemy and his stock. I am indebted to Mr PANTINION (senior Political Officer) for his cordial co-operation and constant help at all times. In spite however of his efforts to get the best out of them I am unable to say anything for the LUMBA, Levis. Probably owing to kinship with the OTIE their hearts did not seem to be in the work and I venture to deprecate their employment in future. Politically their presence may have been useful - that I have not now to consider - while the fact that 300 of this tribe accompanied our troops is a tribute to Mr PANTINION'S personal influence over the BUJWA.

However trivial the enemy's resistance may have been the difficulties of a Transport Officer in charge of some 400 porters with at times over 2000 head of cattle & 3000 sheep to look after on the march through a hilly and densely wooded country are very great. Before concluding this report I beg that you will draw H.M.'s Commissioner's attention to the services rendered to the force by Art Dist Superintendent RAYNS of the Police who acted as Transport Officer from the middle of May to the conclusion of the expedition. Mr RAYNS is untiring & energetic and as a Transport Officer invaluable to any column commander he may be with. I personally owe him much.

I have the honor to be

Sir,

Your obedient servant

H. H. Hooper-Henry

MAJOR

Colonel SOUTHERN PRIMITIVE FORC... 9

Appendix A1

5023604

STAFF DIARY I. SOTIK PUNITIVE FORCE

31st MAY 1905.

NJORO.

REGD 16 SEP 05

No I Column S.P.F. (less detachment at advanced base) entrained at MAIMBOI this morning and detrained at NJORO in the afternoon.

Column camped at NJORO.

The Political Officer reported 600 MASAI levies camped in the bush 5 m. off.

No news of the enemy who is reported to be at least 40 m. off.

At 9 p.m. O.C. No II Column reports by wire from KERICHO that SOTIK are collecting near SOTIK Post with cattle and suggests advisability of immediate attack with his column.

In view of General Manning's definite orders that No II Column is not to enter SOTIK the O.C. that column is informed that he is not to attack until after a junction is effected with No I column.

His Majesty's Commissioner is due here to-night and will inspect the column on the morning of the 1st instant.

My intention is, after this inspection to march to the WANDURU HILLS (8 m.) on the road to NAIROBI and camp there on the instant.

The column will remain camped at NJORO to-morrow the 1st June.

Weather fine.

1st JUNE.

Column remained in camp at NJORO.

His Majesty's Commissioner arrived by special train from NAIROBI at 11.30 p.m.

Weather fine.

10

111-24

2nd June.

Reveille 5 a.m. Column paraded 7 a.m. for inspection by His Majesty's Commissioner and marched off at 9 a.m. Bush drill was practised on the way.

Reached WANDEROBO HUTS at 12 noon, distance 5 miles. First 3 miles are open country, next 2 are bush, remainder forest.

WANDEROBO HUTS is a good camp on an open space ~~empty~~  
500x800, in the forest.

Rain at intervals between 8 & 9 P.M.

3rd June.

Reveille 5.30. A.M. Marched 6.30. A.M. to camp on MAU in a glade, some 3 miles long by 1 mile wide through which a stream flows. Distance 10 miles. First 9 miles through forest except a stretch of 1 mile through a glade called WANDEROBO CAMP.

Rain between 8 P.M. & 9 P.M.

4th June.

REVEILLE 5.30. A.M. Marched 6.30. A.M. Bush drill practised on the way. Very cold morning—frost & thick mist last night which would have facilitated a night attack.

March at intervals through forest & rolling down. Most of the forest we have hitherto passed through is too thick to admit of flankers moving parallel to the column. This I think shows it to be too dense for the enemy to rush us on the march with spearmen. An attack in such ground by bowmen though it would cause local losses would not I think affect the safety of the column as a whole. Reached NELSON'S 10.30. A.M. Distance 10½ miles.

Capt. Barrett reports:-  
PONDA River 16 miles off on road to SOTI POST requires bridging and is bordered on either side by 4

106

miles of very dense jungle through which a path must be cut.

SOTIK inhabited country begins on further ~~sides of bank~~  
on far side of PONDA R.

From PONDA R. to KITCHU is reported to be 26 m. of fairly open country.

No further reports any attack by SOTIK on the side of PONDA most improbable.

5th June. Marched 7 a.m. Track follows course of R. believed to be the PONDA on which we camped.

Distance 16 m. A hard march for porters as the track crossed numerous tributary streams flowing between steep ridges. Country was a mixture of steep grassy ridge and bamboo jungle.

6th June. Marched 6.30 a.m. Captain RAHWAY with the advanced guard was sent on ahead to cut a track through the jungle and bridge the small streams crossing the line of march. NELSON the guide stated that from our camp of the night of 5/6 June to the forest bordering the PONDA was 4 m. and from the edge of the forest to the river another 2 m. This would make the march to the PONDA 6 a.m. while information received that the SOTIK village began about 4 a.m. on the far bank led to a decision to cross the PONDA and camp within striking distance of the villages, to guard the camp with I Company and attack the villages with 3 boys.

Several hours were spent marching through the forest without any sign of nearing the crossing place on the PONDA. As the guide was a European who had been over the road his assurances, repeatedly given, that the ~~crossing~~ was close ahead, were believed, till after marching for 11 hours (during which 16 m. were covered) it was decided to halt the column and bivouac in the forest. Porters exhausted. Water parties under

under strong escorts were sent down a steep ravine to get water which they returned with at 9 p.m.  
Decision taken and orders given to push on to the PUNDA next day. Rain between 5 & 4.50 p.m.

### BARRETT

7th June. Captain ~~SALOMON~~ and the Advanced Guard went on at daylight to cut a road through the forest which is very thick and bridge the M. River bridged by 8.30 a.m. WANDEROBO prisoner stated the SOTIK villages were quite close so decision taken to endeavour to surprise them by pushing on at once with the Advanced Guard (I Coy & I Maxim) and 50 MASAI, while the main body took up road clearing for the convoy. On emerging from the forest some SOTIK huts were seen and the cultivation. This section of the tribe appears to live in little groups of 2 or 3 huts which are either hidden in the dense forest covering the steep slopes of the dense ravines which intersect the country or on the commanding ridges which these ravines divide from one another. No SOTIK were seen by the Advanced party which then spent some time burning huts. The huts are well made but the ceiling is very low inside, the space between the roof and ceiling being utilised as a storeroom for ~~women~~ (fine canary seed) a quantity of which was burnt. The crops of ~~women~~ on the cultivated ground are just sowing and will not be ripe till about November so ~~hope~~ that burning their huts and stores of grain ~~at this season~~ will hit this section of the SOTIK hard. No stock was seen or signs of any cattle. A few goats would seem to be the only possession of these people who are semi-WANDEROBO in their ways. Any attempt at ~~sabotage~~ would, given the ~~negative~~ nature of the country, be absolutely futile. Advanced party halted in an open glade on right bank of MASA River at 11.40 a.m. - the remainder of the Column

Column came up and camped at 1.p.m. Barbed wire put up round camp. After resting the MASAI levies were sent out in strong parties to burn mats.

At 3.45 a party of MASAI returned to camp and reported that on going up a ridge to burn a village not far from camp on the line of march for to-morrow they saw a party of some 30 SOTIK on a neighbouring ridge who shouted at them that they, the SOTIK, were going to make it warm for the Column to-morrow for burning villages to-day. The MASAI party then retired believing the enemy to be in some strength.

Later in the afternoon a party of 50 MASAI while passing through thick scrub was shot at with freshly poisoned arrows by a party of some 30 SOTIK whom they pursued unsuccessfully. No casualties on either side. On discussing to-day's information with the MASAI Chiefs they say that as the SOTIK have had no casualties to-day it is probable that we shall be attacked on the march to-morrow but an attack to night is improbable though a few arrows may be shot into the camp.

21st June.

No incident last night. Marched 6.30 a.m. About 7.50 a.m. parties of the enemy were reported to be holding a ridge in front. Decided to send forward immediately 300 MASAI levies supported by I section 3rd K.A.R. to clear some bush in the hollow between the ridge, were on and that held by the enemy while Nos VI & III Cos (less I section) would attack as soon as the convoy was passed under guard or No VII Coy and I section No III Coy. A few shots from the Maxim at 1000 drove off the enemy who were not in any strength. No VI Coy and the MASAI levies pursued them capturing some 1200 goats and sheep. Column marched in a clearing near water. 14

MASAI chiefs of opinion that a night attack by some

500 men was probable.

Precautions taken accordingly.

At 9 A.M. a few shots were fired from the Maxim at a light smoke some 700' off on hill side.

No sign of enemy during the night.

~~Maxim~~ I Maxim levy slight spear wound.

Raiding parties of soldiers reported killing about 10 SOTIK and wounding 1 who escaped. ~~Maxim~~ Maxim levies did not inflict any casualties on the enemy.

9th June. Marched 8.30 a.m. First 3 miles through bush and old cultivation now a dense tangle of weeds some 10' high - then over open ridges and valleys to the SOTIK POST which was reached at 11.30 a.m.

At 9 a.m. met Capt Barlow with detachment of No II Column which had been burning villages near SOTIK POST. Captain BARLOW reported having reached SOTIK POST on 7th instant his march from KERICHO having been unopposed. He captured some 200 goats and sheep near SOTIK POST on 9th.

Nos I & II Columns reorganised into I Column and force orders issued for further move against the SOTIK. Information received pointed to the enemy driving herds from the ~~ATU~~ district towards KIRILAYLAY-OLI probably with intention of handing to HUNATI. UGANDA to guard for them.

Decision taken to move the force in one column towards KIRILAYLAYOLI, reported to be 30 m. distant, with the idea of forming temporary depot at some convenient spot there and working the district out from a two days radius round the depot by a lightly equipped flying column.

All information hitherto received points to a disinclination on the part of the enemy to attack unless his stock has been captured when a determined

15

determined attack may be expected.

110

10th June. Marched 6.30 a.m. Marched through open country, studded with bushes, route occasionally took column through belts of forest. Crossed NYANBARIS river which was supposed to be the original river found by No I Column known as PONGA. Camped at NYANBARIS about  $\frac{1}{2}$  mile from river. Distance of march 8 miles. Enemy reported to have driven their cattle to ~~NYATAREKWA~~. Followed cattle track all the way, where the enemy had evidently driven large quantities of their stock about 8 days previously. Did not encounter the enemy, but saw 2 of their spies watching our movements near the camp. Sent out 40 rifles to VI Coy and 200 L.M.W.A levies in the direction of NYATAREKWA who had not returned to camp at 8 p.m.

Three volleys were fired to endeavour to communicate with this detachment, which were answered; the detachment remaining out the night.

11th June. Sent out 400 MASAI accompanied by 60 rifles No VI Coy at 4 a.m. Shortly after this detachment had gone, heavy firing broke out in the direction they had taken. At daybreak a company was detached to reconnoitre in the direction of the firing. This party came on detachment that had remained out the previous night who stated that they had been attacked by the enemy and driven them off. This party had about 100 sheep in their Roma they had caught the previous day. It was subsequently proved that the enemy had made an attempt to attack the detachment detached the previous day, but heard the party of MASAI which left Camp in the morning and encountered them, the enemy having four killed and 1 wounded by the former. The whole force joined hands at the Roma which had been attacked.

attacked and marched at 7.15 a.m. to MUTAROKWA which was reached at 11.30 a.m. Marched through close country with belts of thick forest. Enemy reported to have driven their cattle to NDANAI. Did not encounter the enemy but saw one man in the distance. Had four arrows fired into camp during the night, one MORAN being wounded. Camped at MULANGWA.

111

15th June. Column left MUTAROKWA at 6 a.m. and marched in the direction of NDANAI where the SOTIK were reported to have driven their stock. Country parklike between belts of forest. Did not encounter enemy, or see any stock but followed large tracks over which enemy had driven the cattle. Camped at SISI river. Good water and plentiful.

Reached camp 11.30 a.m. Sent out reconnoitry party of No VI Coy and 400 MORAN to search towards NDANAI. This party returned at 6 p.m. reporting they had seen large quantities of cattle beyond NDANAI.

June. Sent out 600 MORAN and No VI Coy to raid cattle seen previous day. Rest of column (less No VII Coy, and Lt TIAH & Lt CAMPY who remained behind forming an advanced base camp at SISI river) moved out in the direction of NDANAI at 8.45 a.m. which still was reached about 11.00 a.m. Captain JAMESON, D.O.O. accompanied by Lt HEDDERSON went on this mill to do some sketching and surprised 2 of the enemy who were killed and the former captured about 80 head of cattle. Scarcity of water made it difficult to select camp, which was eventually found at 5 pm. Raiding parties returned to camp between 7 & 9 p.m. having captured between them 800 head of cattle.

They reported that they had seen very little of the enemy and had not been six or seven miles from a party of BURET

trapped an attack in the night but had to get through a bushes in the dark and were all three  
left camp 7.15 a.m. and returned to SISI river with 17

2

112

with stock. Reached camp safely at 30 p.m. The enemy fired a few arrows at the rear guard doing no damage. Sent out raiding party 50 rifles No IX Coy and 200 WOMAN (MASAI) they returned to camp 8 p.m. having seen very few of the enemy and captured 500 sheep & goats.

They state enemy have driven most of their stock to  
MANIA.

BURST

15th June. Remained at SISI camp. ~~COLONEL~~ Chief came in and arranged with C.O. he would point out BOTHIK cattle mixed in with ~~COLONEL~~ **BURST** Capt PARKER, Lieut WALKER, Lt LEVISON-CLARK sailed to ~~COLONEL~~ tomorrow with Political Office and 75 rifles and some levies to bring in BOTHIK cattle which will be pointed to them by ~~COLONEL~~ **BURST** LATSON.

16th June. Capt DAUERTE, Lt WHISH and 10 LEVISON SOLDIERS,  
1st BATTALION and ORDET CHIEF A-AB CHEMBO left  
camp 6 a.m. and proceeded to search for cattle be-  
longing to SOTIK. remainder of Co remained SISI  
River Camp.

17th June. Col. MUNI remained at the river camp. No news or anything out of the ordinary occurring. MARIE KENDI and party returned from KRAIGHO with 30 boxes of supplies and a quantity of ammunition and a mail. Reported shooting sent in from SOVIIH arrived safely last night together with the enemy on the way to KRAIGHO.

18th June. Captain BAKER and party returned to Camp 12  
noon. Brought in 400 head of cattle and 1200 sheep  
which had been shown them by AMBASSADOR ~~BUREAU~~  
OF RAN. Reported large herd 1800 cattle driven into  
visited country MIGWA MAU.  
Received mail from KENICHO.

19th June.

113

Left SISI Camp at 6 a.m. and marched to Camp on SISI River near MUTANGA. Reached camp 1 p.m.

Captured SOTIK prisoner on the way who reported there were 3 Regts of cattle ready. Sent out raiding parties who returned to camp later with 105 head of cattle and 400 sheep. Country open and parklike.

20th June. Left Camp 6 a.m. and marched towards KIMILAYUN and ~~KUMA~~ where enemy were reported to have large herds of stock. Lieut CULY with 30 VI Coy returning to SOTIK area with all captured stock. Lieut WHITSH R. CO. was left at KUMA with Lieut CARY.

Arrived KUMA at dusk found no one. Country reached end near YANKESS River 12 p.m.

Spotted some sheep on the road. 1000 men killing one goat. On arrival in camp sent out raiding parties to find No VI Coy and MORAN going in the direction of MUNG between TIBA AYUN and ~~KUMA~~ with orders to rejoin them again to-morrow evening on the KALIO River.

21st June. Left camp at 6 a.m. and marched to camp 1 p.m. on the AMALA river near KALAU. Reached camp 1 p.m. Country very dense. Thick forest most of the way, occasional open areas. Raiding parties detached on the march returned to camp 6 p.m. returning having seen nothing except oil tracks of cattle. 50 No VI Coy and MORAN detached the evening before reached camp in the evening bringing 80 head of cattle. Stated they killed 2 of the enemy. Our Colver killing 1. KALAO large river, very good water.

22nd June. To be split into 2 parties under Major POPE-MURRAY and Capt. GARDEN LYCOCK. The latter had orders to proceed round ~~DAWAT~~ and regions surrounding country meeting

meeting Major POPE-HENNESSY'S Column at SOTIK BOMA [14] on the 25th at the latest. Major POPE-HENNESSY's Column marched back on road taken day before and detached parties to search forest where BURET informed him there were cattle. Raiding parties reached camp in evening reporting having seen nothing. Decided on march to reach SOTIK Boma that day which was reached 2 p.m. Picked up picquets left on hills day previous-ly on the way. They reported having seen some 30 or 30 of the enemy and having killed 9 - 1 MORAN wounded. These parties also captured some sheep.

Left SOTIK Boma 8:30 a.m., and marched to camp on KIPSONI river towards KAMUCHO. From this camp it is intended to raid a hill named ~~KAMUCHO~~ <sup>GUYWA</sup> to BURET. Report quantity SOTIK cattle. Reached Camp 12 p.m. Lt CARY and 50 rifles joined us at SOTIK Boma.

As the enemy were reported to be in the vicinity of KAMUCHO HILL, it was determined to send three parties one under Capt RAYMOND proceeding to the KAMUCHO RIVER with orders to drive back to the SOTIK where the action has to ~~begin~~ <sup>seen</sup> for the night. Another party under Capt RAYLOW proceeding round KAMUCHO HILL with orders to join Column under Major POPE-HENNESSY at the KAMUCHO. Result of drive ended in 10 head of cattle and 300 sheep being captured. Different parties killed 9 of the enemy. Very hilly and woody country. All cattle ~~seen~~ <sup>seen</sup> lead into BURET.

Left Camp at 6:30 a.m. and marched to the SOTIK BOMA which was reached 8 p.m. Two parties of rifles and MORAN were sent to raid KAMUCHO. were returned with a few sheep on the 26th and reported all cattle tracks lead into LORIWA & BURET. It is hoped that <sup>20</sup> large numbers of them cattle will be returned through peaceful

peaceful negotiations.

All information from prisoners tracks point to large herds of cattle having been driven to BURST and LIMBIA.

June. Column remained at SOTIK Ruma. Heavy rain during the night. No III Coy sent to cut pound road to GREY'S FARM.

Captain MAYCOCK with No. I column returned to SOTIK POND on 23rd. He reports that on 22nd No I column camped at foot of GOUTI or SOYET range (also called OLORAH) and raided the hills on 23rd inst.

On 24th raiding parties returned with 180 cattle and 500 sheep and goats and column camped outside SOTIK country in the forest. Scouting parties reported that practically no cattle had been driven in this direction. On 25th No I column marched into SOTIK forest. Some prisoners (2 women) taken on 23rd informed Captain MAYCOCK that a quantity of SOTIK cattle had been driven into SAKANIA. A few ~~empty~~ arrows were shot at the rear guard on the 25th. No casualties.

The 1st Lt. Tegameh having reported that with the help of his tribes he would collect a number of SOTIK cattle which had been driven into his country he was given 83 police Am on the 26th went off with a party of his own warriors to get them.

The column has now operated (a) on the back of BURST around NDONAI where a fair capture of stock was made.

(b) in the forest between SIGOR & KIELAYAYON & the KOUTI Hills where trivial captures were made (c) at KOYWA & in the LOKWA MAU where trivial captures were made during which operations the information

gathered may conveniently be grouped under two heads

A. That from BURET & LUMEWA sources which is to the effect that but few SOTIK cattle have been driven into BURET or LUMEWA and that the majority is hidden in (a) GOYWA & KIRILAYLAYON.

(b) GOYWA & LUMEWA MAU.

(c) "SAKAMNIA or SAKMIA.

Recent operations have shown (a) & (b) to be untrue.

B. That from the MASAI levies and our patrols of MASAI & SOUTHERN soldiers to the effect that large cattle trails of varying age lead from SOTIK into LUMEWA & BURET, principally the latter; that but few cattle are to be found in GOYWA, and the KIRILAY-LAYON district as the bulk of the SOTIK herds were driven safety into BURET before the advance of the troops into SOTIK.

Circumstantial evidence collected during operations between 13th & 28th June confirm the information.

To clear up this point decision taken to push a Flying Column into SAKAMNIA and see whether SOTIK cattle in large numbers are to be found there as if not, we having proved that they are not now in SOTIK proper or the GOYWA, GOUPA & KIRILAYLAYON districts, they must be in LUMEWA and BURET.

Attention is drawn to the information given by a CHASMAISHU prisoner on the 21st and to the consistent reports of our patrols which tend to ~~them~~ doubt on the loyalty of the HUMAT who would appear to be sheltering large herds of SOTIK cattle while purchasing immunity for themselves surrendering small numbers when pressed to do so by us.

Information received from various sources points to ARAB KHEDET, the principal chief of SOTIK, having been killed in action with one of our patrols in hill SOTIK about the 8th June.

The fact that they have thus been left without a leader and that they believe the bulk of their herd

herds to be in safety may in great measure account for the trivial nature of the resistance met with by us up to this.

June 27th. A strong patrol of 50 rifles No VI Coy & 30 rifles No IX Coy with 350 MASAI levies left SOTIK POST at moon rise (3 a.m.) to raid SAKAMIA. A Flying Column under Major POPP-HENNESSY, consisting of 3 sections No IX Coy and 1 Coy No VI Coy with 2 Maxim guns followed in support at 6.30 a.m.

At 8 a.m. heavy firing was heard in direction of SAKAMIA which died away in a few minutes. Column halted at MAKICHANGWA at 10. a.m.

Raiding parties sent out in 80 head cattle and a number of sheep and goats and reported 3 SOTIK killed. We had 1 MASAI spearman wounded in arm by a poisoned arrow.

June 28. Column marched 7 a.m. to the ISI river which had been settled on as the rendezvous for the patrols sent out on the 27th. Our guides had greatly overestimated distance from the LICHANGWA to ISI River which was reached at 8 a.m.

On leaving camp an ambuscade of 6 R & F & E Sgt of No VI Coy was left hidden near the zareba. Shortly after the column left camp 3 SOTIK warriors approached the camp and were killed by the British.

During the evening the patrols came in with some 60 head cattle and some sheep and goats, and reported having thoroughly explored the KAMIA forest, that little or no stock has been there for a considerable time but that large tracks of old date lead towards LICHANGWA via JOYWA, and that they had killed 3 SOTIK on the 28th.

1 MASAI spearman wounded by poisoned arrow on wrist. Prisoners taken confirm these statements.

June 29th. Flying Column remained in camp to rest the patrols the personnel of which, both soldiers and levies were quite close up by the fatigue after their raids during which great distances had been covered since 118  
on the 26th.

Those men who had not been out on the 28th were sent in different directions to burn huts. A party under Captain JENKINS found 1 tusk of ivory and killed 1 SOTIK.

On 30th. Column marched at 6.30 a.m. to the SOTIK POST. An ambuscade under Inst. RAYNE left hidden at our camp on the 1st kilometer 3 out of 4 SOTIK Moran who approached the column after the departure of the Column. Total SOTIK casualties up to 30th 85 including some not noted in this diary.

Up to date our casualties are

Killed 1 ASA1 levy accidentally.

Wounded 1 do spear in foot.

1 do arrow in leg (not poisoned)

2 do arrow (poisoned) in arm,

1 Pte No VI Coy do shoulder.

The sergeant of police sent with HUSET legionnaire having reported that the UMT had collected 400 cattle and some sheep sent in for help to bring them in safe. HUSET left with 40 rifles to meet him at the SOTIK POST to help him.

During the absence of the Flying Column two convoy escorts reached SOTIK POST from KERICHO.

1st. Captain BANLOW with 40 rifles K.A.R. and 35 rifles police returned to SOTIK POST at 4 p.m. to-day from the SISI river bringing in some 400 head cattle and a number of sheep and goats which were handed over by the BURIT leganan.

Captain BANLOW reports that there are still large numbers of SOTIK cattle in BURIT which the BURIT will not hand over without pressure. He further reports having received information that large herds of SOTIK cattle guarded by a party of fighting men are now in the KOSSOVA valley which is said to be an uninhabited tract between ANGA & KOSSOVA some 30 m. from SOTIK POST.

Force remained at SOTIK P. A certain number of SOTIK came in and had a shaari with the Political Officer. They stated (though there was no one of any importance amongst them) that they were most anxious for peace. They were informed that they were to hand over the KADJI cattle captured in their raid also the women and children taken. This they said they would do, but required a certain amount of time, as all their people were scattered in all directions.

Bridge over NYANHARE River finished.

3rd. Left SOTIK Poma with stock for G.O.Y'S FARM at 6 a.m. Arrived upper SISI Camp 12.30, rear guard coming in 3 p.m. Very hilly and thick country. No encounters with enemy. A few of stock killed on journey owing to inability to march. Distance 8½ miles.

4th. Left upper SISI camp 5 a.m., cattle proceeding remainder of column. Very slow marching owing to the unbroken series of forest and hills.

Enemy gave Column (rear guard) some trouble by firing arrows killing 1 MORAN.

Ambush laid by No IX Coy resulted in killing 1 of the enemy.

24

enemy and wounding three.

Advanced guard reached camp 1 30 p.m.

Rear guard with stock reaching camp 5.15 P.M.

~~BIRET~~  
Distance 8½ miles. Message & note from Mr PARTRIDGE from SONKE Home reached camp 6 p.m. mained in the evening. Camp named BOSTA HILL. 7800' high.

ly 5th. Left Camp at 6.30 a.m., advanced guard reached new camp at 11.30 a.m. Very bad going & slipping. Heavy rain in the afternoon delayed. Rear guard which did not reach camp till 11 p.m. Sheep and goats were not able to gain camp so bound up for night with an escort some way out, with orders to come into camp following day.

Ambush left at upper SISI road in four or five enemy being killed. Received message from Captain BAKER from GUY'S FARM to say he would join us following day.

Name of camp KIPSONI River.

remained at KIPSONI to allow cattle to graze. Captain BAKER arrived. Sheep and goats also reached us, no news except mail by Captain BAKER. Lieut McLeod & Det. Ist K.A.R. left for GUY'S FARM. ~~Sgt. Bentz who having been ill for some time, had been sent home, died.~~ Left KIPSONI 6 a.m., advanced guard reached camp 12 noon at SANGU. Rear guard with cattle reaching 3 p.m. Capt BAKER with No III Coy left with sheep to follow on quietly. Countryilly & much forest.

6th. Left Camp at 8 a.m. and marched to GUY'S FARM (1 p.m.) Country less forest and very good grazing ground. Cattle arrived camp 3.30 p.m.

NORUMET

Appended

11/6/10.

LEOMA chief.

(MUTAROKWA)

121

stated last all the SOTIK have driven their cattle to  
SHANI and KIRIEN. All the tracks turned dry just  
before the camp.

The tracks remaining were good sign of KIRIEN stock. The  
KIRIEN have driven their cattle up the KIPSONG river  
near the KIPSONG-SOTIK road. There are however in  
SHANI two permanent cattle traps belonging to KIRIEN  
tribes or owners SHAB MORTIMENT and ARAB-MORTIMENT. If  
the KIRIEN traps to-day the cattle belonging to ARAB-  
MORTIMENT and KIRIEN-MORTIMENT they can not say whether  
the 4000 or these two men will join the SOTIK or  
not. Wait until afternoon for their cattle. The  
SOTIK often have consider as unlikely to join  
unless a large quantity of their cattle are captured.  
The KIRIEN traps at present are on the KIPSONG.

If the KIRIEN reach KIPSONG to-day, there are three  
possible places to which the SOTIK may take their  
cattle.

1. KIPSONG

2. 30 miles

2. 30 miles KIPSONG

3. 30 miles

3. TAKUNG (only a little distance from KIPSONG).  
In case of fire, 30 miles to the LURIA DEL 10 AM. Take at  
KIPSONG 30 miles to the south of KIPSONG.

LEOMA hand over prisoner states

The SOTIK cattle did not cross the river but  
they crossed the river because the KIPSONG would not allow  
them to stop here.

The day before yesterday morning the fire-round was  
driven. When the fire-round were drove away took  
cattle. There was no smoke, only sand was seen and  
know where they went. At noon they took the cattle.

36

JAHORURU MOUNT woman prisoner States —

The MOUNT arranged to take their cattle to OPONI but were turned back by a report from a MANDAROO that there were KALI there. They are now at KIPPI R. 122. The MOUNT had moved their cattle to KIPPI and the KIPS-ONI and the SOTIK took their cattle to KIPPI as they heard the government were not fighting the UNY. At the KIPPI there are only KALI cattle.

(Signed) H. R. PARTRIDGE.

16/10/1947

24

11/6/05.

A. W.  
Cable at MITSUBISHI (NOMEKAWA)

123

Headmen of MANAI levies.

state that (from information obtained from leading parties to-day) the SUDI are driving their cattle in three direction--viz.

I. towards KUSOVA

a hill named OL DOKYO OR KAMAKI

+ TAKADA

etc.

The tracks towards KUSOVA, they report no cattle via those towards OL DOKYO OR KAMAKI and HUNOFF, as any, yet.

From the 5 or 6 days earlier the number of cattle driven per day 10,000 or more.

They are of the original herd made up and probably never have joined the ULIK and it makes the number of spears at present guarding the cattle, at least 10,000.

(SD) H. R. McCORMICK

12/5/06.

124

NSI CAMP.

LAKHIMA chiefs state that as the BURKI LAKHIMAS have not come in, it shows that the BURKI are not prepared to stop the SOTIK from mixing their cattle with those of the BURKI.

There are large quantities of SOTIK cattle not far from here round NDAMI not only those whose tracks were seen but also numbers of cattle kept by the SOTIK here on account of the grazing. There are also numbers of cattle belonging to the NDANI BURKI. All the cattle will be driven off this afternoon, tonight or early to-morrow morning, some may be hidden in the forest but very few. The cattle cannot be driven on fear of the KOSMOVA. They will be driven in a semi circle to "WOBILAM" on border of BURKI where there are numbers of BURKI cattle. These will all be driven away together or sight of askaris. If cattle are taken the natives are certain to attack, probably at night but owing to the news spreading of retribution they received last night and the night before the natives may alter their tactics and attack during the march if they find suitable country. Estimated force, SOTIK 600, NDANI BURKI with cattle 400.

If the native tribesmen and carriers are killed there will be no fighting in so far. If the natives run away without much damage none may wish probably try and hire our escorts.

8d.

H. J. PARTINGTON

29

NDANT Camp 18/6/03 9.15.P.M.

125

LANGO NDITTO Chief ARAB-IMARA HURST prisoner, states:-

A great many SOTIK cattle about as many as are in  
Lain's <sup>(he goes)</sup> home crossed the KOMOKISE and came along the  
road we followed and then went to KIRIGET. This large  
herd of cattle that came in with the KRE SOTIK cattle  
all of them I do not know about the first lot but  
there were there HURST cattle and SOTIK cattle but  
they were being driven away separately. Very few  
SOTIK cattle came to where we are camped but a great  
many went to KABOBOUORA about 2 hours from CHILOE.  
The SOTIK will now drive the remainder of their cat-  
tle back to SOTIK. That the HURST Moran want to show  
the ~~exarais~~ where the HURST cattle are so as not to  
have their own cattle taken but they are afraid of  
the ~~exarais~~ riot.

If we followed to go to-morrow morning to tell the  
various Moran that the troops are not fighting them but  
the SOTIK, they will know where all the SOTIK cattle  
are as the SOTIK are few here. If we are attacked  
it will be in the early morning and by the HURST.  
I believe the first lot of cattle taken were mostly  
HURST. If the HURST come in to-morrow morning to <sup>pull</sup>  
the friend will they be shot.

20

AKAB-OHESMTOI (SOTIK Moran) captured by LUGWA states that the SOTIK IN the 15th round the outposts drove their cattle to the KILANI grazing grounds in all 80 homes. The SOTIK Moran returned as they believed their cattle would be safe with them as the fighting would not be carried to KILANI. They only left a few men to herd the cattle. All the Moran returned to SOTIK to help the hill people whom they believed would alone be attacked. The cattle driven towards NDAKI were only but there are very many more in SOTIK itself. The hill SOTIK cattle were driven to KILANI near KIBLOON. Now that the column has gone to KILANI no more cattle have been brought back to SOTIK but the 15th camp off again at 8.00 AM this morning. As far as the cattle have been driven or not UNKNOWN to SOTIK is beyond territory about 18 miles from SOTIK down to NDAKI (known).

The main strength of SOTIK is probably 2000 partly SUDANIS, 1000. Does he believe that the SUDANIS will fight as they have been ordered to do so in their last command.

#### AKAB-OHESMTOI (SOTIK)

Knows of four SUDANIS houses of cattle driven to KILANI also knows of a great many cattle driven to ARALOCH about 15 miles from here (known)

UKITOMI SUDANIS now know that the hill SUDANIS have brought back their cattle into SUDANIS as they know the expeditors are gone to RUANDA.

LUGWA state that they plan to go but between the MUNKE & ARALOCH as they believe the plain SUDANIS

will now try and drive their cattle back into SUDANIS and they can pick up their tracks. General direction toward APOMA. The the cattle captured by the MARAI yesterday were part of the herd they reported as going to KILANI.

June 16th 1905.

Gamiet River SISL.

127

Headmen of MASAI Levies report that (from information received from a HUHET woman captured in the raid of the 13th inst) the majority of the BURET cattle were driven off towards NANDI in May, since then a mixed lot of HUHET and SOTIK cattle have been occupying the cattle homes vacated by the BURET. These herds were captured on the 18th. They are the property of three men, one of whom belongs to the BURET tribe, the other two are SOTIK. These three men, leaving their cattle in the charge of ~~one~~ old men and boys left for APEWE on the 18th to consult with other SOTIK Moran. The prisoner also informed the MASAI that a few days ago the SOTIK sent a party of ~~to~~ BURET drove their cattle into KOSHOVA but were refused admittance and repulsed.

The SOTIK and HUHET have since made over ~~COPPS~~ of friendship to the KOSHOVA, which have not been well received.

OMILLO, elder of the MAITAL tribe of MASAI reports that no cattle or sheep belonging to the SOTIK headmen mentioned in T R FAWCETT'S list have yet been captured. He also states that he hears from LUGWA that members of SOTIK made arrangements with some BURET men to run off cattle back of APPOSE. MASAI Headmen are of opinion that the majority of SOTIK cattle are round APPOSE and in the forests of CHUM. They state that up to date they have seen no Moran, but only old men and boys.

Sgt. H. R. McClure.

39

ARM-SUSIA SOTIK prisoner states that of the 9000  
cattle driven here 400 head have been driven EAST  
in the direction of KARIBUS (KAR-TURROS).

128

They have not yet entered URGUA as they are doubtful  
of their reception there. The remainder about 800  
have been driven to HU. C. That after ARM-SOTIK  
had handed over 4000 cattle, the ~~arm~~ of Moran told  
the remaining SOTIK that they would drive them out  
and collect the remaining SOTIK cattle in one place  
ready to hand over to the government.

That as far as he knows they have not yet done so.  
That after our visit to HU. C. there were hardly a few  
SOTIK cattle left in URGUA river but he cannot say  
whether the KARIBA valley all the SOTIK have trans-  
ferred their cattle to greater distances.

That a group number of SOTIK cattle have never come  
this way at all but he cannot say whether they are  
on KARIBA or round KARIBA.

John H. T. F.

33

22/6/06.

179

Twelve LINENWA Levies returned from HUNU & got with a mess go from Sergeant of Police last he had 400 head cattle and a large number of sheep & goats, asked for instructions whether he was to come together there or to go it for some. If he was to remain in UNTU he was to have enough to guard cattle.

LINENWA questioned stated that they had followed down the SUNDU river to the T. and found large number of cattle in the KOSHOUA valley, bet seen the KOSHOUA hills and the SUNDU. They caught a UNTU who showed them the T. where they were at. The DROMO said for him or someone else was set up by a party of Police led by L. M. T. in trying to find the cattle he left. They & one other man are now trapped on the T. at the village and wait there for an answer. The DROMO said he was sent in a message that in villages there were a number of UNTU cattle others in the KOSHOUA hills and the SUNDU. No casualties, but a woman is reported to have had a bullet pass through her. A DROMO not named. Details not known. DROMO said he got this information at the village.

22/6/06. DROMO.

35

~~TSI~~ 600

29/8/66.

130

Prisoner captured by the ASAII in raid of 37th. 20th  
states:-

The majority of the cattle belonging to the Hill SOTIK were driven off into "Shill" country soon after negotiations between the representatives of government and the restoration of cattle looted by the APJI.

The APJI's arrival at WOMO was known to the SOTIK (probably through R (MO) states) and they (the SOTIK) were well informed by the WA-JU-YA and RU-MU-TU of the Hill SOTIK's arrival.

The APJI were under the impression that a third party composed of HAJI would not let them from WOMO. This was the only reason for their driving the Hill cattle as far as WOMO. The herds captured by WA-JU-YA in Hill SOTIK contained all Hill SOTIK cattle.

Hill SOTIK was killed during Haji's capture. There is still SOTIK. His people are now living amongst the WOMO. SOTIK is now an independent army. Some of the cattle in WOMO.

Sgt. M. H. C. Rodriguez

to TONAD. Elder of the SOTIK tribe, who has re-  
stated however the SOTIK numbered the cattle of the  
Hill SOTIK at 2,000 head.

These of the Hill and the Plain SOTIK together are  
about 7,000 head.

We cannot estimate the number of Hill SOTIK men  
as living in the forests like MENDOKO, they are  
scarcely seen in large numbers.

The fighting men of the Plain SOTIK no puts down  
at 400, and out of the Hill-SOTIK at 300.

Sd. H. N. MacLUNG.

LENACOLLA MARAI MONO whose kraals were raided by the SOTIK states that of the people captured, there remain now amongst the SOTIK,

5 women and 3 children.

15 of the people were killed by the SOTIK in the raid. (6 men & 10 women)

1 woman disappeared and it is not known whether she was killed or is still a prisoner.

3 children died while in captivity, their mother was recaptured by the column in Hill SOTIK.

His loss is estimated at 10 to 20 head sheep & 2 to 3,000 head, exact number unknown, belonging to O.L. LOKIPI, LERAI, OLOLAMU and INGOTTAW, all owing to LENACOLLA'S kraals were also taken.

Sgt. H. V. McCutche.

March Orders by MAJOR HAG-HENNESSY

*Appendix B*

Joining No I Column S. P. P.

No I.

NJORO

1/6/05.

600 hrs.

183

I. (a) The SABU is reported to be concentratting near the SOUTH POST.

(b) No II Column is at NJORO

E. No I Column will march towards NAIROBI's to-morrow and camp at the WANDUKO

Advanced Guard.  
Capt MAYCOCK.  
Lt VI Coy S/K.A.R.

Maxim.  
Main body  
Lt VII Coy S/K.A.R.  
Sur. guard  
Lt No III Coy S/K.A.R.

Aln  
st  
ar  
Bo

HUTS some 8 m. from NJORO.

3. The MASAI ~~Levies~~ will march independently under orders to begin later the Political Officer.
4. The Advanced Guard will march on conclusion of the inspection of the Column by the Commissioner.
5. The Main body will follow immediately in rear of the Advanced Guard.
6. ~~Reserve & Hospital~~ escorted by 1/2 Co V.I. Coy will follow the Main Body.
7. The A.O.C. will be with the Advanced Guard.

#### H. POPE-MONTGOMERY, Major

Coming No I Column.

~~Coming No II Column~~

Each Orders by Major. POPE-MONTGOMERY

Coming No I Column S. P. A.

WANDERUBO DATES 8/6/05 - 9 P.M.

1. (a) The ~~enemy~~ is reported to be concentrating near the Ngora Post.
- (b) No II Column is at KAMIMO.
2. No I Column will march towards MULISON'S to-morrow & camp some 12 m. from here.
3. The ~~Yatta~~ Levies will cover the front at a distance of 1 mile.
4. The Advanced Guard will march at 8.00 a.m.
5. The Main body will follow immediately in rear of the Advanced Guard.
6. ~~Reserve & Hospital~~ escorted by 1/2 Co VI Coy will follow the Main Body.
7. I will be with the Main body.

8d. H. POPE-MONTGOMERY

Coming No I Column.

Order No I Column S. P. F.

No 5. Date on MAU. 8/6/05 6 p.m.

1. (a) The enemy is reported to be concentrating near the SUKI POST.

(b) No II Column is at KAMPO.

2. No I Column will march to MILLSON'S to-morrow and camp there.

3. The REAR GUARD class D train will cover the column at a distance of 1 mile.

I tribe will cover the rear of the column.

4. The ADVANCED GUARD will march at 6.00 A.M.

5. The REAR GUARD will follow immediately in rear of the ADVANCED GUARD.

6. The REAR GUARD escorted by 4 day No VII Coy 841 K.A.R. will follow the REAR GUARD.

7. I will remain the Advanced Guard.

Major H. HOWE-HENNESSY, Major  
3rd to A. Milles.

March Orders by Major HOWE-HENNESSY.

Order No I Column S. P. F.

No 6. Date on MAU. 8/6/05 6.30 P.M.

1. (a) The enemy has been reported to be concentrating near the SUKI POST. His nearest villages are reported to be about 4 m. beyond the POWELL River, a low rising uprooted &amp; broken belt of dense forest and is 16 m. from here on the SUKI POST road.

(b) The No II Column should start from KAMPO towards the SUKI POST on the instant, to effect a junction with No I Column there.

2. No I Column will march towards the POWELL River to-morrow on the MILLSON'S SUKI POST road.

5. The M.A.J. Legion divided into 4 approximately equal portions will cover the front, flanks and rear of the column at a distance of 1/4.
6. The Advanced Guard will march at 6.30 A.M.
7. The Main Body will follow immediately in rear of the Advanced Guard.
8. Charge & Hospital escorted by 4 Coy No III Coy 3d R.A.R. will follow the Main Body.
9. I shall be at the head of the Main Body Mr. NELSON with Company C.C. Advanced Guard.

Sgt. H. MORRISON, Major  
Commanding No I Column.

March Orders by Major MORRISON

Leading No I Column S. P. D.

No 5. Camp on Panda River 5/6/05 4.30 P.M.

- I. (a) The enemy is reported to be between Advanced Guard, ~~the~~ the Panda river and the SOTIK Post.  
Capt. M. J. L. (No III Coy 3d R.A.R.)  
orders axes loaded rope.
- (b) Our No II Column should be on the march from ABINGO to the SOTIK Post.
2. No I Column will cross the Panda River to-morrow at a point 6 m. from here and enter SOTIK country.
3. The M.A.J. Legion will cover the ~~cross~~  
~~cross~~ actions given separately.
4. The Advanced Guard will march at daylight to the crossing place on the Panda. It will cut a road to that point and will bridge the river there but will not advance into the forest reported to be covered the first 100 yards beyond such distance as may be necessary to cover the ~~cross~~ of the River (about 100m).

5. The Main Body will follow the Advanced Guard at 6.30 A.M.
6. Hospital and Hospital escorted by 1 Coy Sq VI go with I Column the Main Body.
7. I shall be at the head of the Main body or RAILROAD will accompany C.C. Advanced Guard.

Sd H. PURSHENNESSY, Major

Command No I Column.

NOTE:

Water bottle and Biscuits at 6 p.m. no one in column to receive water.

SEARCH UP TO THE BARRICADE FOR RAILROAD

SEARCH AND PROBE IN THE REAR OF RAILROAD

SEARCH ON RAILROAD 7/6/05 15 P.M.

INSTRUCTIONS

Railroad (Barricade)  
at 6.30 A.M.  
1st Coy 3rd K.A.R.  
Second 3rd K.N.  
1st Lt. R.V.R.  
Medical Officer  
Sergeant Doctor.

Main Body  
1st Coy and 2nd  
with one section  
Guard  
Coy No VII Coy  
M.K.A.R.

1. (a) The enemy is reported by our scouting parties to be collecting in some villages to our front close to our line of march.
- (b) No II Column should be nearing the ROTTI TOWN which is reported to be 9 hours march from here (12 m.)
2. No I Column will continue its march towards the ROTTI TOWN and attack the enemy reported to be collecting in its front.
3. SEC MAY 1 leaving will proceed the Advanced Guard and march touch with the enemy. The rear guard will cover the rest of the column.
4. The Advanced Guard will march at 6.30 A.M. towards the ROTTI POST.
5. The Main Body will follow immediately in rear of the Advanced Guard.
6. Hospital & Hospital escorted by 1 Coy No VII Coy and 1 section of No III Coy under Lt. G.H.S. will follow Main body.
7. I shall be with the Main Body.

Sd H. PURSHENNESSY, Major

Command No I Column

## March Orders by Major PURK-MANNERY

Column No I Column S. P. F.

No S.

Camp on 6/6/06 5.30 A.M.

~~Front Guard~~

(Capt MAYOOGH)

No VI Coy. Bdr VII AR.

(less 3d rifles)

Maxim Gun B/MAR.

Lt Ist V.A.R.

Main Body

No III Coy B/MAR.

Rear Guard

No IV Coy No VII Coy

Bdr II V.A.R.

I Maxim Bdr V.A.R.

- I. (a) The enemy whose villages were burnt yesterday will probably endeavour to recover captured stock on the march to-morrow.
- (b) No II Column should be at the SUTIK RUST said to be 16 m. distant.
2. No I Column will continue its march to the RUST POST.
3. 200 ~~RUSSIAN~~ Lavers will proceed the advanced guard and fight when with the enemy. The remainder, reinforced by 3d rifles of No VI Coy, will act as escort to captured stock and follow closely on the rear guard.
4. The ~~Advanced guard~~ will march at 5.30 A.M. to the RUST POST.
5. The Main body will follow immediately in rear of the Advanced guard.
6. ~~Advanced guard~~ escorted by 4 Coy to VII Coy will follow the Main body.
7. I shall be with the Main body.

Sd. H. PURK-MANNERY, Major

Constantine Ulrich.

## March Orders by Major PURK-MANNERY

Column No I Column S. P. F.

SUTIK RUST

6/6/06 5.30 A.M.

- I. The column is reported to be driving stock from SUTIK towards KINLAYLOW which is reported to be 20 m. from here.
2. The Column will march towards KINLAYLOW.
3. 100 ~~LIVERS~~ Lavers will cover the front at a distance of 1 mile.
- Parties of 200 ~~RUSSIAN~~ Lavers will cover the flanks and rear.

- 8.
4. The Advanced Guard will march at 6.30 a.m. towards KIBLAYA with guides provided by the Political Officer.
5. The Main Body will follow immediately in rear of the Advance guard.
6. The ~~House~~ ~~House~~ and Hospital escorted by No VII Coy 3rd S.A.R. will follow the Main Body.
7. I shall be with the Advanced Guard.

Yours very truly,  
S. O. S. P. F.

3rd S. A. R. 1st Bn.

A.A.C. Unit No. 1 - MOUNT-PENNESSY 3/S.A.R.  
Colonel of ACTIVE FORCE

No. 1. Advanced Party 10/8/05 6.15.

1. The ~~Army~~ are reported to be driving stock to MUNTAKAHILL.
2. The Column will march towards MUNTAKAHILL.
3. Four hundred ~~MABU~~ Levies accompanied by 40 rifles No VI Coy under an N.C.O. will accompany towards MUNTAKAHILL where they will rest in the column before dark. This party will leave camp at 4.00 p.m.
4. The remainder of ~~MABU~~ Levies cover front and flanks of Column. ~~and~~ the rear.
5. Advanced Guard will march towards MUNTAKAHILL at 6.30 a.m.
6. Main Body will follow immediately in rear Advanced Guard.
7. House & Hospital escorted by No VI Coy less 40 rifles will follow Main body.
8. The G.O. will accompany Advanced Guard by Order.

S.M. G. L. RIBLOW, Captain

S. O. S. P. F.

244

March Orders by Major POPP-HENNEMAN

Arriving 10 AM 18/05/05  
MARCHING WITH MUNITION TRAIN.

No 11. Start at YUAN YUA. 18/05/05.

Distribution

Advanced Guard.  
(Lt CAR)  
No VII Coy 3/EAR  
2 Maxims  
Det 1st R.A.C.

2nd Party  
(Capt SAYCUEK)  
No VI Coy 3/EAR.

Rear Guard  
(Capt BARRETT)  
No III Coy 3/EAR,  
1 Maxim

1. The Party with large herds are reported to be in the KHOSH, LILIGHT HILLS.

2. The train will march in a column on the KESI river near JALANI.

3. Advanced guard will march at 6 a.m.  
towards YUAN YUA.

4. Main body will follow immediately in rear of Advanced Guard.

5. Passage Hospital escorted by No IX Coy will follow the main body.

6. MASAI Levies will cover the front and flanks in equal portions.

LURIMA Levies will cover the rear of the column.

7. The G.O. will accompany the advanced guard.

2nd Party Orders

84. Lt BARLOW Comd

S. O. R.P. 6

March Orders by Major POPP-HENNEMAN

Arriving 10 AM 18/05/05

No 12. Start at KESI river 18/05/05.

Distribution

Advanced Guard  
(Capt BARRETT)  
No III Coy 3/EAR  
2 Maxims  
Det 1st R.A.C.

1st Party.  
(Capt JOHN THOMAS)  
Sects No IV Coy 3/EAR  
Transport & Hospital.

2nd Party.  
1 Sect. No IX Coy.

LURIMA Levies will cover the Adv. guard.

1. The column will be organised as a Base Column and Flanking Column as under:-

A. BASE CAMP

KESI RIVER

Co. command Lt WILSON 3/EAR

(a) Garrison

No VII Coy 3/EAR. (Lt CARY)

pick details and detachment.

No III Coy 3/R.A.C. sufficient to bring total garrison to 75 rifles.

I Maxim Gun S/K.A.R.

All LRUWA Levies less 30.

(b) Medical Officer.

(c) Asst. Transport Officer.

All porters in excess of those noted  
for Flying Column Tpt.

B. Flying Column.

(a) No. III. VI. & IX doys 3rd K.A.R. less  
details as above.

I Maxim Gun S.K.A.R.

(Lt. Med. 10D)

Lat. 300 men.

30 Levies Levy & 600 R.M.L.I. Levies.

Political Officers.

2 Political Officers (for intelligence)

The transport Officer S. P. F.

20 medical officers.

(1) The following scale of transport will  
be adhered to in the Flying Column.

Major G.P.-REEDLEY

Capt. BURROW

Capt. JAMESON

Capt. HEDDOW

7 porters

between tasks.

Capt. KIRKMAN

Capt. HARRIS

Lt. LEWIS

Mr. HODGKIN

7 porters

between tasks.

Mr. PARKERSON

Medical Officer

TRANSPORT

6 porters

between them

40 porters

For a Maxim

12 porters

Hospital

8 "

Barrel wire

8 "

One

1 "

Therapeutic

1 "

Officers

20 "

Cooking pots (for mess

20 "

& porters)

20 "

Axes

1 "

Total	82	446
Spare	8	
	80	In all

- (b) The Flying Column will be rationed to-day up to and including the 16th inst. These rations will be carried on the person.
- (c) The 8 loads of barbed wire, 1 of rope, 1 of axes and the Hossb loads will be kept ready stacked near the Transport Officer's tent this evening.
- (d) Except 1 large Hossb Tent as above noted, no tents will accompany the Column which will immediately bivouac.
2. The enemy are reported by our raiding parties of to-day to be near NDANAI Hill instant 10 a.m.
3. The Flying Column will march to NDANAI Hill to-morrow.
4. Two parties of 300 MASAI levies with 100 rifles No III Coy will march towards and beyond NDANAI leaving camp at 8 a.m.
5. The Advanced Guard will march towards NDANAI at 8 a.m. to-morrow.
6. Min Poly will follow in rear of Advanced guard.
7. Rear guard will follow the main body.
8. Surgeon will be present with A medical chart.

By Order,

M. C. L. BAKER Capt

C. S. R.F.

March Orders by Major PUR-HENNESSY

Command SOFTSKIN PRIMITIVE REGT

No 18. SISI DIVISION

18/6/06 1 p.m.

Distribution

Advanced Guard  
to III Coy 3/KAR.  
(Capt MACKITT)  
Maxims (Lt. MacLADD)  
et Ist K.A.R.

- I. The Column will be organised as a Base Camp and Flying Column as under:

A. Base Camp

SOTSKIN ROMA.

or warrant Lt L.P. Gary S/K.A.R.

(a) Garrison.

No VII Coy S/K.A.R. 143

Sick details & detachment at

SOTTA PORT

100 MUNIC. Laries.

(b) Asst Transport Officer.

(c) Medical Officer.

All porters and horses not noted to accompany the Flying Column, will go to the Adv. Post with Lt GARY's Detachment.

(d) The details assigned to the base Camp will comprise 100 heads of stock cattle and 2000 sheep and goats to SOTTA PORT marching on the 15th inst. via the Flying Column.

B. Flying Column.

(a) No III, VI, IX Cos. S/K.A.R. less details as above.

3 Maxim Ans S/K.A.R.

Det Ist K.A.R.

1 Medical Officer.

2 Political Officers.

Transport Officer.

(b) The following scale of transport will be adhered to:

3 Cos. @ 10 porters per day = 30

12 Officers @ 3 " " Officers = 36

Cos. men porters @ 30 boxes each = 30

100 MUNIC. Laries (10 per day) = 80

Hospital = 12

Office = 1

Total spare = 10

Total I48

Cain boy  
Message  
Hospital  
to VII Coy S/K.A.R.  
Lt GARY  
battle  
to VI Coy S/K.A.R.  
(Capt MAYDOCK)  
(Capt JONES)  
Dear Guard  
to IV Coy S/K.A.R.  
(Capt JENKINS)  
Munition

Divine Lewis will be with the Advanced Guard.

Staff of Officers  
Major PARKER-HANNAEY  
Capt STANLEY  
Sir LAUDY DE GRASPIENY.  
Capt MAYDOCK  
Capt HARRATT  
Capt JENKINS, D.S.O.  
Lieut WITSH

Lieut LYNNON-SOWTH  
Mr PARKER-HANNAEY  
Mr HARRATT  
Lieut McLEOD  
Transport Officer  
including Large tent & 2 stretchers.

2. Each Coy will take their 5 tents which 144 is allowed for in the above detail of transport. 4 loads perco. wire & 1 load rope.
3. The ~~snow~~ is reported to be concentrated in 2 bodies near MARYAT, crossing harbor of MUL SOTIK.
4. The column will march towards MUL SOTIK River to-morrow.
5. The Advanced Guard will march at 6 a.m. in the direction of MUL SOTIK.
6. Main Body will follow in rear of Advanced Guard.
7. Stock acco. to 1st Regt. of III Coy (Capt. MARYAD) & MUL SOTIK will follow immediately in rear of the III Coy.
8. Horse and mutton (Stock) will be driven with the marching columns and from time to time or whenever necessary be carried by the soldiers.

By Order

Sd. S. L. RAYMON Capt

S. O. S. P. P.

#### A.D.C. Order.

ADM'D MUL S/ K.A.R. will proceed with Lt. COLY'S detachment to MUL SOTIK and from there to establish no later than 12th May on 1st May 1904 MUL SOTIK in accordance with telegraphic instructions rec'd. from O/C, 'TROPS', JAHORI.

By Order

Sd. S. L. RAYMON Capt

449

March Orders by Major POPE-HENNESSY

145

Coming SOUTH PUNITIVE FORCE.

No 14.

Camp near MUTAROKWA, 12/6/05.

- I. The enemy are reported to be near KIRILAYAN.
2. The column will march to the ford on the NYANGARES on the road to KIRILAYAN.
3. The Advanced Guard proceeded by the NYANGARES hide will march towards the NYANGARES at:
4. The MAIN BODY escorting baggage & hospital will follow immediately in rear Adv. Guard.
5. The rear guard will follow Main Body.
6. MASAI Levies will cover rear guard driving live stock for rations.
7. C. O. will be with the Adv. Guard.

By Order,

S. L. BARLOW Capt

S. O. S. P. F.

March Orders by Major POPE-HENNESSY

Coming SOUTH PUNITIVE FORCE

No 15.

Camp near NYANGARES River, 20/6/05.

Instruction

Advanced Guard.  
VI Coy (Capt MACCOCK)  
Coy on patrol  
exins. 8/ K.A.R.  
1st K.A.R.  
MacLADDON  
III Coy 8/KAR.  
MASAI Levies.

MAIN BODY.

No III Coy  
(Capt HAMILTON)  
No IX Coy  
8/ E.A.R.

Rear Guard.

No IX Coy

Capt JENKINS D.S.O.)  
MASAI Levies will cover  
lanks and rear of  
ol. equally distri-  
uted.

- I. The enemy are reported to be in the vicinity of NANO.
2. The column will march to the MHALO River to-morrow.
3. The Advanced Guard proceeded by the HURAT hide will march at 6 a.m.
4. The MAIN BODY escorting the baggage and hospital will follow immediately in rear of Advanced Guard.
5. Rear Guard will follow Main Body.
6. MASAI Levies with Rear Guard will drive live stock for rationing column.
7. The C. O. will accompany Advd. Guard.

B. O.  
Sd. C. L. BARLOW Capt  
S. O. S. P. F.

50

Comding SOTIK PUNITIVE FORCE.

Camp at NAKU.

SI/6/88.

Distribution.

I Column  
(Capt MAYCOCK.)  
III Coy (Capt  
RAEVENHILL).  
Maxim.  
6. 1/4 Hosp. Tpt.  
Artificiers No VI Coy  
under (Lt LEVISON-  
POWER) 4  
MAGIERS & 250  
NAVAL men.  
porters.

II Column for  
POPE-HENNESSY  
C. O. 250  
BANDW

IV Coy (Capt  
JACKINS D.S.U.)  
Maxim (Lt JACKINS)  
No VI Coy  
Hospit establish.  
No M.A.C.P. levies.  
No RAEVENHILL &  
BROWN.  
PAXTON.  
RAYNE.  
porters.

I. The enemy in small parties with small  
herds is reported to be 8 & 10 of us.

2. The force will operate in 3 columns as  
under:

No I Column under (Capt MAYCOCK). Distribution  
MUTU-STL-S. —

No III Coy .50 No VI Coy. 1 Maxim. M.O.  
and Hospit establishment. Lt LEVISON-POWER.  
T 400.00 and 400 M.G. I. Tpt. & porters.

No II Column: —

for POPE-HENNESSY.

L. S. U. Capt RAEVEN.

No IV Coy, 1 No VII Coy.

1 Maxim. 1 Hospit establishment.  
150 M.A.C.P. levies.

All GURAT & LUDWA.

No RAEVENHILL

T RAYNE.

6. 1/4 porters.

1. The force to be pointed out by RAEVENHILL  
2. 1000 m. to rejoin him by RAEVENHILL let alone  
3. 1000 m. to rejoin him by RAEVENHILL let alone.

3. Column commanders will issue march orders at day light to-morrow.

4. No men will concentrate at a IR HUST  
before 4 p.m. on 26th inst.

5. Heliographs & 2 Signallers will accompany  
No I Column to LUDWA & No II Column to RAYNE.

6. Signal flags will accompany No II Column to RAYNE.

7. All men to be issued by orders.

L. LEVISON-POWER

C. O. S. P. 51

March Orders by Major POPE-HANNESSY.

147

heading SOUTHERN PUNJAB FORCE.

28/6/05.

1. The enemy are reported to be at GOTWA in LUDHIANA MAU.

2. The Column will march to the KIPSONG River at 6 a.m.

3. The following Officers will accompany the Column.

Major POPE-HANNESSY.

Capt BAILLIE.

Capt JENNINGS D.S.O.

Lieut MACLEOD.

Lieut GALE.

Mr PARTRIDGE, M.O. Officer.

Mr TINKHAM M.

Mr NELSON, Transport Officer.

4. Mr RAYNER will remain at the SOUTHERN ROMA and communicate the details till the return of the Column.

5. The following transport will accompany the Column:

Show sample of Transport as to-day.

40 boxes of ammunition to be carried, 40 spare porters will accompany the column.

All porters who accompanied Lt CHAMBERS to SOUTHERN ROMA to be taken, supplies required to be sent up from base camp.

3 days' rations in bags will be supplied;

other days' rations (sleeping) will be given.

Barbed wire brought with No 11 to be loaded will accompany the force.

Order

Major POPE-HANNESSY Capt

52

## Orderly RUMPTIVE ORDERS

Camp on KIPSONKI

28/6/05.

Kipsonki

Advanced Guard.  
1 sect. No IX Coy.  
(Capt J.M. INNS)  
Maxim & K.A.R.  
Lt. 1st K.A.R.

Min. ody  
1 sect. No IX Coy.  
Maxim & Hosp.  
sect. No IX.

Guard.

Sect. 1st K.A.R.

I. The shawys are reported to be moving from GOIMA HILL to the MARI MARI River.

2. The Co. will endeavour to cut them off.

3. A detachment under Capt BAWLOW of 40

rifles No VI Coy. Lieut. MAI Moran will move at 2 a.m. GOIMA HILL remaining to guard on the SAMPO river.

4. A party under MAISIK KIPSONKI NO HAWAII and 1 sect. No VII Coy will move at 7 a.m. night to the KIPSONKI and hold a line of tank river till noon. They will then march towards the column rejoining it on the SAMPO river that night.

If the column will march at 8 a.m. proceeded by remainder of MAI Devies.

## Order

Sd. G. L. BAWLOW Capt.

March Orders by Major POPE-MANNESY

Orderly RUMPTIVE ORDERS

Camp near KIPSONKI

28/6/05.

Kipsonki

Advanced Guard.  
1 sect. No IX Coy.  
(Capt J.M. INNS)  
Maxim & K.A.R.  
Lt. 1st K.A.R.

Min. ody.  
1 sect. No IX Coy.  
Maxim & Hosp.  
sect. No IX Coy.  
Maxim & K.A.R.

Guard.  
1 sect. No VII Coy. MAXIM & K.A.R.  
Maxim & Hosp. & 50  
MAI Moran with 6  
1st K.A.R. No VII Coy.

I. The shawys are reported to be in small parties near KIPSONKI.

2. The Column will then follow KIPSONKI.

3. A detachment of 40 rifles No VI Coy & 100 MAI Devies will march to KIPSONKI at night guided by a prisoner & will blaze a trail for the column.

4. Advanced Guard, Area at 8 a.m.

5. The remainder of column will follow.

6. The C.O. will accompany the Advanced Guard.

## By Order.

Sd. G. L. BAWLOW Capt.

53

## Operations Orders by Major POPE-HENNESSY

Command SOTIK PURITIV FORCE.

SOTIK BOMA

26/5/05.

1. The enemy are reported to be at BAKNUANIA with cattle.
2. A detachment of 50 rifles No VI Coy and 50 No IX Coy with MASAI Moran under Cr. Sgt Saguda will leave camp at 3.00 a.m. sleep at the ~~NYANGARIA~~ ISI river on the 27-5-05. and sail NYONOMIA on the 28th, rejoining Column at ISI river the evening of 29-5-05.
3. The remainder of the column under Major POPE-HENNESSY composed as under:

Remainder No VI Coy (Capt MAYCOCK)

No IX Coy (Capt JENNINGS, D.S.O.)

3 Maxim (Lieut MacL AD)

Mr MacLADY

1 M. G.

1 Transport, 6 Year.

Same scale of porters as usual.

3 days flour ration.

4. The Column will leave the SOTIK BOMA at 5.00 a.m. tomorrow and camp at WAKCHANIA 27-5-05. at ISI river 28-5-05. and raid from ISI sleeping there 29-5-05.
5. Lt CARY and remainder of No VII Coy will remain at SOTIK BOMA.

All spare porters, remaining at SOTIK BOMA with 50 MASAI Moran.

Lieut CARY will make arrangements to build a bridge over the NYANGARIA river at a spot to be indicated.

Mr HAMILTON who will remain at the SOTIK BOMA.

6. Distribution of troops on line of march to be issued later.

By Order

Sgt C. L. BARLOW

Captain

*St*

March Orders by Major PUPP-HANNESSEY

150

Concent Flying Column S. P. F.

Camp at MARICHANGA

27/6/05. 5 p.m.

Distribution

- I. The enemy in small parties with small advanced guard. (in order  
 Capt. M. (HANNESSEY) of March) herds of cattle is reported to be  
 15 MAULI levies at SHILLANGA.  
 2 batt. No. IX COYS. S.A.M.S.  
 2 batt. No. VI COYS. S.A.M.S.  
 Det. Tmt K.A.R. 3. Advanced patrols are operating in  
 Main Posty that district to-day.

- Det. No. IX COY S.A.M.S. 3. The Column will march at 7 a.m. to the  
 camp & Hoayt, 151 River to support our patrols.  
 1. 4. I shall march with the Advanced Guard.  
 Capt. MAYCOCK. 5. H. PUPP-HANNESSEY, Major  
 Det. No. VI COY S.A.M.S. Command Flying Column

March Orders by Major PUPP-HANNESSEY

Concent Flying Column S.P.F.

Camp at 151 River

28/6/05

March orders will be issued in the morning.

Major H. PUPP-HANNESSEY, Major S.P.F.

March Orders by Major PUPP-HANNESSEY

Concent Flying Column S.P.F.

S.Y.T. R.U.A.

27/7/05.

Distribution

- Advanced Guard.  
 (in LEVISON-KUMAR) that sufficient punishment has been inflicted  
 Capt. No VII COY. messengers have been sent  
 Maxine Roent (with all sides) to LUMOTIK CHIEF to tell him to  
 orders with loads. Come in.  
 spare porters.  
 Capt. No VII COY. A reinforcement of our force under Captain

- HANNESSEY (Capt. MAYCOCK) HANNESSEY is ordering a road from S.Y.T. Post  
 Ossola (151 MASAI) to LUMOTIK.  
 Capt. No VII COY. to LUMOTIK.  
 Capt. No VII COY. to LUMOTIK.  
 Capt. No VII COY. to LUMOTIK.

- E. The 10th will march as a convoy escort  
 at 6.30 a.m. to-morrow towards LUMOTIK Post,  
 following Capt. HANNESSEY'S route. The distribution marginally noted will be adhered to daily.

55

5. The transport officer will move 3500 sheep and goats across the NYANGANEE River at 4 a.m. to-morrow under escort of 2 sections No VII Cos 6/ K.A.R. and 300 MARAI levies. These sheep will be packed in the o en. 300 yds from the bridge and North of MARY'S FARM.

Rear Guard.

Cast JENNINGS D.S.O.:

sects No IX Coy.

Maxim guns (Lieut

COL O'DR)

Det Int K.A.R.

J.M.C. & 3 Horse.

sects No IX Coy.

I sect No VII Coy.

3500 sheep & goats.

I sect o VII coy.

Spare porters.

200 MARAI More

road, whence they will follow the column.

4. Natives seen on the line of march will not be fired unless they attack the column.

5. The U.G. will march with the Maxim Gun of the Rear Guard.

6. The .303 Ammunition & Maxim Reserve ammunition in charge of O.C.Troops, KARICHO will be handed over tonight by Capt JENNINGS D.S.O. to the N.C.O. I/C Police post SOTIK for safe custody.

7. 106 boxes .303 ammunition will accompany the Advanced Guard.

8. All ranks will be rationed to-day up to and for the 8th inst.

Batten Beans flour.

9. The Commissariat Officer will hand over to the Political Officer to-day (taking receipt):-

(a) Balance of grain rations at SOTIK after issue in Order No 8.

(b) New meat cattle.

(c) All sheep and goats less 3500 which are to accompany the convoy.

10. On the departure of the Convoy, the Police for KARICHO district will resume charge of the Police left at SOTIK POST via 47 rifles.

We will further arrange to send direct to MARY'S FARM from KARICHO or PORT STANLEY K.A.R. detachments or details now at

KARICHO or elsewhere now.

places, and not rejoined for the protection of the Railway line. This does not apply to details of No IX Coy at MIRKHO. 152

III. The Political Officer will pay off the LIMWA Levies at the rate of 3 posts per head for the 145 LIMWA who have served throughout the operations. He will further hand over to Mr DEPUTY COO head belonging to him which were brought in by the SOTIK the beginning of June.

R.O.

Sd. C. L. HARLOW Captain

March Orders by Major POPS-HAMMISY.

Command SOUTIK PURAIVI FORCES.

Column Order SISI

5/7/05,

1. The CAHLE and ~~apala~~ under escort of No VI Coy & No VII Coy will march towards GRAY'S FARM at 5 A.M. to-morrow.
2. The remainder of Column will follow at 6.00 A.M.

6 rifles No VI Coy & A point of 6 rifles No VI Coy & LIMWA Levies will proceed the cattle and goats at 6.45 A.M.

4. Column of route as for to-day will be formed at the first WEMI field on the right of the road, some 8 m. from camp.

By Order

Sd. C. L. HARLOW, Captain

March Orders by Major POPS-HAMMISY

Command SOUTIK PURAIVI FORCES

Camp at SANAU

6/7/05

1. From the camp a Convoy will march towards GRAY'S FARM in two sections, regulated by the rate of march of cattle sheep & goats respectively.

1, IX & 3 sects  
No VII.  
No VIII.

No "MANAI".

2. No I Section will be composed of cattle  
escorted by No VI & IX Cosys, & three sects  
No VIII.

- III (Art. 153) 153  
No VIII.
3. No II Section will be composed of sheep &  
goats, escorted by No III under Capt. BARLOW  
& Maxine will accompany their Cosys.
  4. March Orders for the Sections will be  
issued daily verbally.
  5. The Command Officer will be with No I sec-

By Order

Sgt. C. L. BARLOW Captain.

## Section Primitive Force.

Column Orders. No. I Column

154

Camp Njoro,

SI-8-95 6 P.M.

Orderly Officer Mbarak M'BONI

- Camp. I. The Column will rest in camp tomorrow.
- Sanitary. 2. The left rear of the camp will be used for latrines at a distance of 100 yards.
- Porters. 3. The porters will be paraded by the Transport Officer at 6 A. M. tomorrow and detailed as under:-
- 100 to collect wood.
  - Remaining to camp duties.
- Parades. 4. Company parades, at 7 A. M.
- Batties. Guard Mounting at Retreat.
- 
- Lights out, 8 P. M.
- Reveille, 6 A. M.

(Maj.) Pope-Hennessy. MAJUR.

Commanding No. I Column.

## Column Orders.

- Parades. 6. The Column will parade S. W. of the camp at 7 A. M. tomorrow, the advanced guard will march towards Njoro when ordered to move off.
- Transport order. 7. At 4 P.M. today Officers Commanding Companies will draw in Company porters from the Transport Officer who will in addition hand over the following details of porters to those concerned:-

To G.P. Maxim ... ... 10

To M. O. ... ... 9

To Tpt. G. for ground sheet 1 57

To each Officer ... ... 1

and arrange for the transport of the under-

mentioned with the column visit-

.303 Ammunition ... 12 Loads  
Survey box ... 1 Load  
Office ... 1 Load

The balance of porters will be spare.

Duties.

8. No. VII Company will find the duties for tonight.

Orderly Officer, Major M. Afrandi.

9. Rations for the 3rd., 4th., & 5th. ins'ns will be drawn by soldiers, followers & porters at 6 P.M. from the Transport Office.  
10. The Transport Officer will act as Commissariat Officer. Attached to him will be the following staff viz:

Coy. Clerk of Mov. VII Coy as ration clerk.

I selected pte. from each company as helpers.

(Sd.) H. Pope-Hennessy. Major.

Commanding No. I Column.

Njoro. 1/6/05.

After Order.

11. A detachment of 1 N.C.O & 6 Ptes of No VII Coy will take over Column stores to be left at NJORO at retreat to-day.

(Int.) H. P. H.

60

Column Orders by Major POPP-HENNESSY

Column No I Column S. P. F.

156

WANDEROBO HUTS

2/6/05.

12. Watches will be taken in succession at the opposite page.
13. Camp routine will in future be as laid down in Standing Orders.  
Orderly Room, unless otherwise ordered, will be at 5 p.m. daily. All officers will attend.
14. All cooking will be done outside the zareba. Groups & levies may keep fires burning all night inside the zareba.
15. Reveille 5.30 a.m.

Mr. H. POPP-HENNESSY, Major

Column No I column.

16. M.P. O. will see the sick at the following hours at the Hospital Tent viz:-
  - (A) An hour after the rear guard ~~passes~~, remaining camp.
  - (B) At 5 p.m. daily.

Init H. P. H.

Column Orders by Major POPP-HENNESSY

Column No I Column S. P. F.

In Camp,

2/6/05.

17. Every Company Commander will be accompanied on the march by a Swahili-speaking MAJAL orderly from No VI Coy.
18. Rev. drill at 5.30 a.m. to-morrow.

Mr. H. POPP-HENNESSY, Major

Column No I Column S. P. F.

6d

Coming No 1 Column S. P. F.

Camp at NEILSON'S 1.45 p.m. 4/6/05.

- Levville. 19. Reveille to-morrow 5:30 a.m.  
Duties. 20. The sentries in the Column camp will be visited twice during the night by the Orderly Officer.  
Orderly Officer ~~Mohamed~~ Hiffendi.

21. The following loads will be laid out in the center of the Column Camp by 5 p.m. to-day:-  
Barbed wire 12 loads

None	5	"
Soldiers tents (small)	17	" (2 sets axes & cooking pots attached)
Oil	1	"
Hospital	9	"
Rice	18	" (3 day rations)
Salt	1	"

61 loads.

to which the Transport Officer will detail porters.

In addition to the above he will detail 30 porters to Officers at the rate of 3 per officer. A further 20 porters will be handed over to Lieut. Mack DD for the Maxims.

6 porters without loads will accompany the rear guard.

Total porters marching out with Column ~~now~~. The Transport Officer will master all porters in camp to-day and from them select the best fit to accompany said column.

22. Rations for the 5th, 6th, 7th & 8th inst will be issued to-day at 3 p.m. to all soldiers, porters and followers accompanying the Column.
23. Porter No having deserted on the line of march yesterday is struck off the strength of the Punitive force.
24. Sgt QUINN will act as G.S.L.C. He will have at his disposal the following Transport

He will forward to the Tpt Officer NAIROBI porters found unfit for work for discharge. A voucher showing date of employment, advances, No. Name and date of leaving Adv. Base will accompany the batch for whom a headman will be selected. He will keep a duplicate of this document.

With the L. of C. left remaining he will clear

Lst Camp depot ————— by 13.6.06.

Middle depot, ————— by 24.6.06.

On completion of this duty the L. of C. porters (least 20) will be sent to NAIROBI for Discharge with aoucher as above.

The monkeys and 10 porters will be retained for L. of C. work.

25. NELSON'S FARM will be the base for the Advance into SUKUKI under Sgt WEST.

The following details will garrison the base viz  
I N.C.Q. & I+ R. & P. No VII Coy 3/ K.A.R.

All pick of other Companies.

8 police.

26. Officers Coming Companies will draw from the Tpt Officer to-day 100 rounds per man (making 250 in all) which will be carried on 16th June in Standing Order No. I.

O.S. No III Coy will draw sufficient cartridges from the Tpt Officer to enable him to comply with this order.

28. The D.O. will inspect the Nos VI & VII Cos in the camp at 5 p.m., and No III Coy and the Maxim detachments in the zebra at 5.30 p.m. to-day. Men will be in the order they will march out to-morrow carrying 4 days rations & 250 rounds.

Hd. M. PURN-HAMPTON, Major  
Commanding No I Column.

Note. March Orders will be issued later.

68

Column Orders by Major POPE-HENNESSY

Coming No I Column S. P. F.

159

Camp on RONDA River.

5/6/05

- Security. 29. The attention of all concerned is drawn to the table of watches on the opposite page.
- maximins. 30. In future the Maxim detachment will be accompanied by 2 filled belts per gun and I spare part box for the detachment. The remainder of the Maxim ammunition and equipment will march at the head of the baggage under the superintendence of 3 men of the Maxim detachment.s.
- Reveille. 31. Reveille to-morrow at 5.30 a.m.
- punishments. 32. The following punishments were awarded on the dates given:

Col Kilinget Li Turgo reduced to Pte for neglect of duty when Commanding a Picket piquet on 3/6/05.  
No 1498 Pte Nasharaja Li Turgo, 15 Lashes for disobeying an order.  
No. 1454 Pte Li Ong & No. 2045 Pte Monzari -  
Crime: improper conduct on the line of march  
Punishment: 48 hours Drpt H.L. (Field Drpt No I)  
No 623 Col Mabruk Ali.

Neglect of duty when I/C piquet.

Witness Major POPE-HENNESSY

Severely repd. 3-6-05

MATOR POPE-HENNESSY.

No 624 Baraka wa Illeh

736 Iwana Manadi

Milling out on Line of March

Lt CARY 3/6/05

15 Lashes

Major POPE-HENNESSY.

Note.

Column Orders for the 8th just issued verbally and by letter to Officers Command Cos at bivouac in front near RONDA River at 6 p.m.

Sd. H. POPE-HENNESSY, Major

64

Column Orders by Major POPE-HENNESSY

Coming No. I Column S. P. F.

160

Camp on MOSSA R.

7/6/05.

33. Owing to the difficulty of going round this zareba at night Officers will visit the sentries on their faces only. Every Officer will visit the sentries on his face 5 times tonight. Officers Coming Companies will see that not more than + their Companies are under canvas in the night- the remainder not on sentry duty, will sleep with pouches on and bayonets fixed on the face of the zareba.

Maxims will be loaded and trained.

Sd. H. POPE-HENNESSY, Major

Coming Column.

Column Orders by Major POPE-HENNESSY.

Coming No I Column S. P. F.

8/6/05.

34. The watch table with Column Order No 29 will be adhered to.

The officer on watch will order fire to be opened at once if the camp is shot into at close range. Volleys should be used.

Sd. H. POPE-HENNESSY, Major

Coming Column.

Force Orders by Major POPE-HENNESSY.

Coming SOTIK POST, SONG.

SOTIK POST

8/6/05.

- I. Nos I & II Columns having joined to-day at the

SOTIK POST will till further Orders work as one Column.

2. The sentries will be visited twice tonight by the orderly officer.

Orderly Officer MRARAK MENDI.

65X

ments. 3. The following appointments will take effect from to-day:

Staff Officer: Captain HARLOW Ist K.A.R.

Intelligence Officer: Mr PARTINGTON.

Ast. " " Mr MacLURE.

Medical Officer Dr BOEDKER.

Asst. Transport Officer Mr NEILSON.

Commandant SOTIK POST Cr. Sgt SAID b. AHMED.

161

prison of 4. On the Column marching out to-morrow the SOTIK post will be garrisoned by

49 police.

Details of K.A.R. to march.

5. The following Tot will accompany the Column to-morrow:

(a) 40 Coy porters viz

4 for Barbed wire

1 per rope

6 for tent, 5 axes & 10 bedding posts.

(b) 48 Officers porters viz

3 per officer for 16 officers.

(c) 53 Column porters viz

30 for Maxim Gun & its ammunition.

1 for rifle.

1 for Tarpaulin.

18 for the Hospital.

1 for logistic train boats for batteries.

1 for Office & Survey box.

(d) 70 days rations being 5 days rations for the Column.

(e) 4 spare porters to replace casualties 1st day  
Total porters 280.

These will be drawn as under

(I) 90 from the Tpt sect. with No II Column.

(II) 180 from the Tpt of No I Column.

The remaining 10 porters of No I Column Tpt will be added to the 20 L. of C. porters allotted in the WILKINSON-SOTIK POST line in Operation Order.

66

No 5 of the 20th May.

6. The 30 D. of C. porters will as soon as possible move from KERICHO to SOTIK POST 75 loads of food. Convoys will be escorted by the armed porters and 15 police. Convoy escorts will be provided, for by the Commandant Advanced Base, SOTIK POST.
7. 1871 sheep and goats were this day handed over to the Political Officer.
8. At the request of the Political Officer 200 LUGWA Levies will be handed over to him to live the loot referred to in order No 7 to such destination as the P.O. may order.
9. The Tpt & Cmt O. will issue to all natives ranks marching out to-morrow rations for the 10th, 11th 12th & 13th inst which will be carried on the men.
10. Rations will be drawn by Coy Commanders at 5 p.m. to-day.
11. Coy Commanders will hand over to-day to the Base Comit any details unfit to march to-morrow.
12. Reveille to-morrow at 5.30 a.m. The column will not stand to arms one hour before Reveille.
13. No IX Coy will be completed to 250 rds per man tonight.
14. All surplus stores will be handed over to the Base Comit. by the Tpt Officer before 6 a.m. to-morrow.

S. H. PUP-HENNESSY, Major

3rd K. A. rifles.

Force Orders by Major PUP-HENNESSY.

Coming SOWIE PUNITIVE FORCE

Camp NARRENS River.

10/6/06.

14. Watches tonight according to table.
15. Reveille will sound in future at 5.30 a.m. daily otherwise ordered.

67

Column will stand to arms at 4.30 a.m. On the 100  
dismiss sounding, all except the sentries and their groups, will roll up wire and strike camp.

Officer Coming Goya will detail one permanent orderly for the Staff Officer each who will also be provided with 2 MASAI & 2 RUMA Levies, by the Political Officers.

Alarm 17. Should firing break out at night, any Officer satisfied that there is an enemy in front of his face of the Square will sound his Company Call and the "Confidence Fire".

18. The following punishments were awarded yesterday by the Commanding Officer:

No VI by S/ E.A.M.

M. M. Malia Donald

" T. P. Matshetu Not obeying the Jaches &

" Baphoi Masai an order 31 days N.I. No I.

" Roger wa Libarika

" Punis Gipari

Pte Lameet Kapoti-Incooper conduct to be left

at the commandant's base

to 183 Pte Innourpi sleeping in their tents

129 " Kombo Motore contrary to orders.

740 " Hauai wa Kere 1/ Sec-05

1616 " Russell Jakeshi

Lient Leyeson over, Major W.C. not reported  
Miro.

18 Lashes & 31 days I.M.R.

By Order:

Sd. C. L. RADOL Capt.

R. O. S.P.V.

After Orders

19. The Order Book ~~will~~ is circulated daily and signed by all reading it.

The Orderly has instructions to return the book when signed by all, to the Q.O.'s tent.

06

Force Orders by Major POPE-HENNESSY,  
Command SOTIK PUNITIVE FORCE,

163

Camp at MTTAROKWA,

II/6/05.

Reveille. Reveille will sound at 5. a.m. to-morrow.

atches. 20. Watches according to scale.

le guard. 21. O.C. No VII Coy will detail a cattle guard of 1 N.C.O. & 6 men to act as a cattle guard. The N.C.O. commanding guard is held responsible that no unauthorized person will interfere with the stock. This guard will be on duty for one week.

22. O.C. No VII or VIII detail 1 N.C.O. & 6 men to act as a water party. This guard will be on duty for one week.

Order. 23. Order No 10 d/ 10-6-05 is cancelled and the following substitute it:

All Officers will attend orderly book on the bugle sounding orderly book, they will then see the Order book & initial.

B. Order

Major L. B. L. Captain

S. O. S. C.

After Order.

24. In future the cattle蓬 in the centre of the camp will be made of brushwood 6' high and 4' thick. If necessary a rope must be used which will be placed outside the蓬 to strengthen it.

25. In future a quarter guard will be formed on command. O.C. No VII will detail 1 N.C.O. & 6 men to mount guard at 6.p.m. this evening. Their tour of duty will last for one week. On reaching camp each day these men will mount guard near the Political Officers tent. On the march they will take charge of all prisoners and be with the Political Officers.

69

MBARUK Effendi escorted by 30 rifles No VII Coy will proceed to KERICHO to-morrow on the Column leaving camp & return as soon as possible with 30 boxes of am uniton; he will rejoin Column at NBANAI Hill.

Bopee Orders by Major PULLENLESSY

Command SOTI PUNITIVE FORCE.

Camp at SISI River. 18/6/05 2.45 p.m.

- urity. 26. Sentrys within arm shot of bush will sleep & not stand up during the night. Sentrys will not challenge visiting rounds or persons approaching them from inside the Boma, they will post arms silently as the visiting rounds pass them.
- rn posts. 27. Men will sleep at the alarm posts, rifles with fixed bayonets by their sides, heads to the Zareha & S' front it. If possible firing to be lying.
- at firing. 28. Officers will impress upon the men the need for perfect fire discipline at night. To reply to snipers one or two volleys fired by one named Section by order of one officer is sufficient. Independent is to be brought checked and the man who may have got out of his noted & punished. A rush of spearmen will of course be met by a heavy and rapid fire, but it is unlikely that such an attack will be ~~proceeded~~ <sup>proceeded</sup> by sniping.
- uples. 29. In camp the only calls which will be sounded are the "alert" and the "cease fire", except as is now order do 17. The whistle is in future to be altered to as much as possible for communicating in camp & on the march.
- 29 (a) All soldiers, levies & followers will be in camp

by 6 p.m., after which no one is to leave camp except to relieve nature which must be done within 20 yds of a sentry.

165

- ite & 30. Officers Comding Cos will render a parade state  
n return. and a return of ammunition of their Cos to be handed to the S.O. by 6 p.m. this evening.

By Order,

Sq. C. L. BARLOW Captain

S. O., S. P. F.

After Order.

- tents. 31. Watches according to scale.

By Order

Sq. C. L. BARLOW Captain

Forces Orders by Major POPE-HENNESSY

Coming SOONER POSITIVE FORCE.

Camp at 13/6/08 6.30 p.m.

32. Reveille to-morrow at 5 a.m.

All troops will stand to arms 4 a.m.

33. Officers will come to Headqrs tent at 6.45 a.m.  
to-morrow when march orders will be issued.

34. The following will be the scale of watches this evening:-

Front face: Capt. MANNING 7-II

Capt. BARLOW II-2

Major POPE-HENNESSY 3-5

Right face:

Mr PARTINGTON 7-II

Mr McLURE II-2

Capt. MAYCOCK 3-5

Left Face:

Lieut MacLEOD 7-II

Capt. JENKINS, R.S.O. 12-5

Rear face:

Mr RAYNE 7-II

Mr STEWART II-2

Lt LEVISON GOWER 3-5

MY ORDER Sq. C. L. BARLOW Capt

Force Orders by Major POPP-McNESSY

Command SOUTHERN DIVISION FORCE

Camp at SISI,

14/6/05 8.15 p.m.

166

1. Watchers according to scale.
2. Porters will complete and strengthen the Poles. No VII Coy will complete the outer bomb ~~using~~ <sup>Gatille</sup> barbed wire of the inner bomb to do so.
3. No III Coy will detail 1 sent which was not on the Flying Column to act as a cattle guard.
4. The Political Officers will detail 100 Moran (MASAID) to assist as a cattle guard.
5. All cattle to be in the Homs by 6 p.m.
6. 50 rifles No XII Coy and LMG WA Levies will leave ~~on~~ to-morrow morning to raid according to instructions to be issued later.
- The remainder of the troops will rest in camp.
7. The Transport Officer will detail fatigue parties of porters to clean the camp and dig night latrines for the troops. These latrines will be dug 50 ft. off on each face and filled in every morning. Any person found committing a nuisance elsewhere will be severely dealt with.

By Order

6. L. FALLOU Captain

S. S. B. F.

Force Orders by Major POPP-McNESSY,

Command SOUTHERN DIVISION FORCE.

III Camp

15/6/05 8.20 p.m.

1. Reveille 5.30 a.m., groups stand to arms 6.30 a.m. after the Officer of watch.
2. Watchers according to scale.
3. Each Coy is responsible for the cleanliness of their own face of the square inside the barbed wire; porters will clean the outside of the lines round the lines.

The following detachment will leave camp at  
4.30 a.m. to-morrow under the Command of  
Capt PARKER S/ K.A.R.

No VII Coy (Lt LEVISON GOWIN)  
or rifles no III Coy (Lt WHISH)

167

All LIDWA Levies (less four)

This party will carry rations for 10th & 17th  
Battalions per officer. 1 large tent. 4 loads  
carried by us. This detachment will return to  
camp by 6 p.m. 17th inst. The Political Officer  
will accompany Lieut WHISH, who will search for  
SOTIK cattle among the HERT herds under the  
guidance of the HERT Laibon.

By Order

C. L. PARLOW Capt

S.O. S. P. P.

After Order.

46. One Oiroran OLESHEKANI EL MURGO (NAMI) having  
been killed by mistake will be struck off the  
strength from this date. Compensation will be  
paid to his family as if he had been killed in  
action.

By Order

Sgt. C. L. PARLOW Capt

Force Orders by Major POPP-HENNESSY.

Command SOTIK PUNITIVE FORCE

SIBI

16/6/08.

46. No cooking or slaughtering of animals is to be  
done inside the Homa on any account. Any one  
found disobeying these orders will be made a  
prisoner. A Sgt & 3 men have been told off to  
see these orders are adhered to and confine  
anyone not complying with these.

74

47. In future if ammunition returns are called for  
the following system will be adopted.

Coy	No of rifles in Coy.	Rounds ori- ginally issued.	Rds expd.	Total in hand	168
-----	-------------------------	-----------------------------------	--------------	------------------	-----

48. A convoy which was sent to KENICHO on the 11th  
inst returned to-day bringing 30 boxes of ammu-  
nition and a mail.

49. Watches according to scale.  
By Order

Sgt. J. L. MARLOW Capt

S. S. S. P. C.

Force Orders by Major POPP-HEDGESBY

Command SOUTIK PUNITIVE FORCE

S1 17/6/05 4.30 p.m.

50. A Field General Court Martial composed as under  
assembled to-day for the trial of  
No 1 Pte KORNTHON MINYANGSEKI No IX Coy 3/ K.A.M.  
President, Capt HAYDICK 3/ K.A.M.  
Members, Captain SHAW & THOMAS LINDO  
The proceedings will be forwarded to the G.O.

51. Watches according to scale.

52. The following punishments were awarded by the  
G.O. yesterday.

No VI Coy No 1 Pte LIGANIYARO Dogolani - 18 lashes  
& 14 days P.I. No I-not  
obeying an order.

No VI Coy Pte KORNTHON Dogolani - 20 lashes  
& 21 days P.I. No I- improper conduct  
on guard.

Force Orders by Major POPP-HEDGESBY

Command SOUTIK PUNITIVE FORCE

S1 18/6/05 1 p.m.

53. Reveille will sound 5 a.m. to-morrow. *76*

54. Watches according to scale.

55. The following is the award of a P.G.D.M. held at

SISI RIVER on the 17th inst. for the trial of  
No. Pee HOMONT MENTAMWEZI No. IX Coy S.A.K.A.  
R.

Charles I. Stealing the property of a comrade 169  
- Striking his superior Officer.

Punishment: 20 lashes, to be imprisoned with H.L.

for 6 calendar months.

By Order

Sgt. C. D. THOMAS Capt.

Sgt. G. G. P. \*\*\*

These Orders by Major FORD-THOMAS

Command Staff, 10th ANNUAL FORCE

Camp near MUTAROEMA.

19/6/05.

1. Reveille will not sound. The Officer of watch will call the camp at the appointed time notification after.
2. 1000 hours according to scale.
3. Sixty soldiers will build a S.O.C. and three men to march with their baggage on the line of march. These men are to be held responsible that their horses take full complement of bags & gear on their arrival in camp with tents, 1 x stirrups, 3 axes, 1 rope, 4 loads barbed wire as per force order No 5 d/ 9-6-05.
4. Officers will satisfy themselves their men are present before marching off.
5. In future there will be a reserve of 10 boxes of 500 ammunition to each company this provision will accompany Nos. III, VI & XI Cos. ready on the line of march. Key Officers are responsible that this provision is with their Cos when leaving Camp.
6. Key Officers will make arrangements to send any men sick in their Cos with Lieut CARY'S Detachment to-morrow to IMBUTIK ROMA.
7. No VII Coy's man will accompany his detachment to-morrow.

Orders for the march of the Convoy proceeding to SOTIK, same will be issued by flight with assault  
plan.

63. Bridges will not sound on any account with the Flying Column except the only call to be sounded will be the "alert".

By order

170

Sgt. C. L. MARLOW Capt

A. C. R. P. Y.

Force Orders by Major DEMPSEY

On Coming SOTIK POSITION FORCE.

Camp near MANGANES River.

20/6/00.

63. Watches according to name.
64. Coy Officers will personally inspect their boy loads before they are handed over to the transport officer, and satisfy themselves they are correct.
65. Signalling Officer on the March List LEWARD SOTIK 3/ K.A.S. He will be with his Coy on the front of March.

By Order

Sgt. C. L. MARLOW Captain

H.Q. S. P. F.

Column Orders by Major DEMPSEY

On Coming SOTIK POSITION FORCE.

66. Revert to

21/6/00. 62/2.

67. Bridges sounded no reply.

68. GONG LIST.

69. O.C. Cos will ensure that the men of their Cos sleep 8' from the barbed wire, sufficient space to be left to enable the Officer on watch to walk round the road safely.

70. All men on outpost duty are to wear equipment, any man found disobeying this order will be severely punished.

By Order

Sgt. C. L. MARLOW Capt S. P. F.

Column Orders by Major POPE-JENNIFER

Coming SOTIK PUNITIVE FORCE.

171

SOUTHERN

25/6/04

1. 71. Reveille at 5 a.m. to-morrow.  
2. The two native officers at present in the SOTIK  
Force will visit the territories to-night & report  
anything unusual occurring to LT GARY. LT GARY  
will inform them of this order.  
3. A 9.00 p.m. file assembled composed as under  
so as to be ready for the trial of

Policeman KUOKA

KAWANGA

President - see below

Members Court MARTIAL C.S.O. & LT GARY  
Proceedings to be forwarded to the C.G.

By Order

M. D. L. PARKER

Column Orders by Major POPE-JENNIFER

Coming SOTIK PUNITIVE FORCE

at Tigray River

25/6/04

1. Officers who will call "all" at 1 a.m.  
2. The following is the word of a warrant held  
at the said post. For the trial of  
a. Policeman KUOKA

TRAILOR: Shimlin, a being the proprietor of the  
Government.

SUPPLY: 30 lashes & 42 days I shall

a. Policeman KUOKA

WARRANT When on Active Service & a sentinel  
over prisoners allowing one to escape.

SUPPLY: 1 year's pay.

- b. Officers according to scale.

By Order

M. D. L. PARKER

78

Column Orders by Major POPP-GRECHEN

Divine RUTIK BUNITIVE FORCE

172

Camp near KIRIA.

24/6/06.

1. Reville. 78. Reville 5 AM. a.m.  
2. Watches according to scale.  
3. A.T. Gun, prepared as under will assemble at such time as the General may appoint to-morrow for transport of such prisoners as may be brought before us.  
PROVISIONAL SALT SPINNS. D.B.O.

HEAD QRS. 1st BRIGADE & CAMP.

By Order

Hd. Q. L. DIVINE CAMP

S.O. H.P.F.

Column Orders by Major POPP-GRECHEN

Divine RUTIK BUNITIVE FORCE

BOTTI road

25/6/06

1. Reville. 81. Reville will proceed to KIRIA.  
2. Capt PAYNE will be orderly officer this evening & visit the sentries twice during the night.  
3. TAYLOR will be no 1st ser. & 50 porters will pull a road to KIRIA's VILLAGE, also bridge all rivers for 6000 men & equipment this party can not be pulled.

4. Major Popp will arrange with the POSITION OFFICER for any possible guidance or any remaining difficulties will leave the BOTTI road at 7 a.m. to-morrow.

5. Order No 80 of 24/6/06 is hereby cancelled.  
6. The remainder of Column will remain in camp until 10 a.m.

By Order

Hd. Q. L. DIVINE CAMP

S.O. H.P.F.

79

Column Orders by Major P.C.P.-H.M.S.Y.

Coming MARCH FORTRESS DODGE

173

ROCKY RIVER,

28/3/05.

86. Reveille will sound at 5 a.m.. Column will march  
at 6 a.m..

87. Major Attadi will be orderly officer this  
evening and visit the sentries twice during the  
night.

88. The base commandant (Lt. GARY) will receive all  
soldiers last day arriving at the BATT. and will  
be trustee reporting them to his Garrison.

By Order

Sgt. . . . . CAPT. Capt

" . . . . . Lt. Col.

Column Orders by Major P.C.P.-H.M.S.Y.

Coming Flying Column 28/3/05

Two student battalions

27/3/05.

89. Reveille tomorrow 6 a.m.. Column will march at  
6.30 a.m..

90. Soldiers must remain in camp. The following offi-  
ciers are on active service.

Major H. W. H.M.S.Y. 7-8 P.M.

Lieut. Capt. CO. 1-1 P.M.

Capt. PATRICK CO. 11 A.M. 20.1 P.M.

Capt. MORSE CO. 1 P.M.-5 P.M.

Lt. COLONEL LANE CO. 3-4 P.M.

91. H. H.M.S.Y. 1 P.M.

Column Orders by Major P.C.P.-H.M.S.Y.

Coming Flying Column 28/3/05.

Two student battalions.

28/3/05.

92. Reveille tomorrow 6.30 a.m..

The Column will stand to arms at 4.30 a.m..

93. Watches tonight according to schedule.

80

The following Officers are on watch tonight:

174

7-9 P.M. Capt. JACKINS D.S.C.

9-11 P.M. Dr STEWART

11 P.M.-1 A.M. Major PUGH-HENRY

1-3 A.M. Lieut. MacLean

3-5 A.M. Capt. MAYO R.

5-6 A.M. Major PUGH-HENRY Major

Coming S. P. P.

Colonel Orders by Major PUGH-HENRY

Colonel Flying Column S. P. P.

Major INT Silver

60/6/05

Leave 1000 hours at 6 A.M.

The Column will stand to arms 1 A.M.

No. Hatchet Hill or according to plan.

The following Officers are on watch 1000 hrs.

Colonel JACKINS 7 - 9 P.M.

Major DIVISION COLONEL 9 - 11 P.M.

Capt. JACKINS 11 - 1 A.M.

Dr STEWART 1 - 3 A.M.

Major PUGH-HENRY 3 - 5 A.M.

Col. H. PUGH-HENRY Major

S. P. P.

Colonel Orders by Major PUGH-HENRY

Colonel Flying Column S. P. P.

60/6/05.

Supply Officer Major ANDERSON Officer

Supply Officer Major ANDERSON before midnight & once after.

No. 1. The Column will remain in camp at the FLYING POST tomorrow.

Day No. Anders will render to the STAFF OFFICER before 6 p.m. returns showing

81

(a) Material distribution of their corps.

(b) Ammunition accounted up to date.

(c) Articles of clothing or equipment.

96. The Transport Officer will render to the Staff Officer before 6 p.m. a return showing number of
- (a) Cows with calves.
  - (b) Heifers.
  - (c) Bulls.
  - (d) Small bullocks
  - (e) Sheep.
  - (f) Goats.

175

~~He~~ will inform the Staff Officer what help he will require to complete this return.

97. The Political & Assistant Political Officers will render to the S.O. before 6 p.m. returns showing :-

- (a) No of MASAI & LUMWA ~~men~~ with the Column & employed elsewhere.
- (b) Nominal roll of prisoners showing tribes and date of capture.
- (c) Distribution of police at
  - 1. ROTIK POST.
  - 2. MRICHO
  - 3. MELSON'S.
  - 4. GARY'S.
- (d) A return of MASAI prisoners now in the hands of the S.O.D.
- (e) No & description of BURNT cattle now in our hands.

98. The M.O. will render to the S.O. before 6 p.m. a return showing Nos of soldiers, levies & opt followers now on sick list or excused duty.

99. A board comprised as under will assemble at such time & place as the President may appoint to report on the health of Lt (Honble) L.P.CARY 3rd

A.A.R.

President Dr. BOMDEKER

Member Mr. STEWART

100. Lt LEVENSON MOWER wil. take over Command of No VII Coy from Lt (HON) L.P.CARY placed on Sick List.  
Sd. H. POPE-HENNESSY, Major  
Commanding S.P.F.

Column Orders by Major POPE-HENNESSY

Coming S. P. F.

176

SOTIK POST

1st JULY 1905.

- Orderly Officer IO1. Orderly Officer MARAK Effendi, 3rd K.A.R..  
The sentries will be visited once before and once after midnight.

Reveille. IO2. Reveille 6 a.m. to-morrow.

Sgt. H. POPE-HENNESSY, Major

Coming S. P. F.

Column Orders by Major POPE-HENNESSY

Coming SOTIK PUNITIVE FORCE

SOTIK Home

2/7/05.

- Mile. IO3. Reveille will sound at 5 a.m.  
IO4. Orderly Officer this evening MIRZA Effendi.  
IO5. Lt. GANT invalided by a medical will proceed by convoy leaving SOTIK POST on the 3rd inst to VALGEI via SOLO.

By Order

Sgt. W.L. HARLOW Capt

S.O., S.P.F.

Column Orders by Major POPE-HENNESSY

Coming SOTIK PUNITIVE FORCE

Camp near Upper SISTY.

3/7/05.

- Mile. IO6. According to scale.  
IO7. Reveille 5 a.m. Column will march to 8 a.m.  
Distribution: IO8. Distribution on line of march same as for today

By Order

Sgt. W.L. HARLOW Capt

Column Orders by Major POPE-HENNESSY

Coming SOTIK PUNITIVE FORCE

7800' Camp.

4/7/05

- IO9. Owing to the impossibility of getting round camp this evening. Officers on faces will visit their sentries three times during the night.

83

ille. III. Reville 5 a.m. Column will march 6 a.m. 177  
Order of march as laid down in Operation Orders

of Endinst.

III. One N.A.F. Moran having been killed in action  
to-day is struck off the strength.

III. Fire will be opened on all Natives approaching  
the column if they do so in a suspicious manner.  
Morans are to be warned not to wander about the  
column or to go round the camp at night.

By Order:

SH. H. L. REEVES Capt

Column Orders by Major G. L. REEVES

COMING SOUTH P. NATIVE POLICE

Column Orders

5/7/05.

III. Reville 5 a.m. March orders will be issued  
at 6.15 a.m.

III. Officers will visit their sentries once during  
the night.

III. The following is the award of a P.G.C.M. held  
to-day for the trial of No. 1048 Ser SUDI MAGILI-  
MA BY H.A.R.

CHARMS: Not complying with an order to put up  
a wire on his section of the Zarea on the  
1st instant.

This award is to be handed to Corporal

By Order:

SH. H. L. REEVES Capt

SH. H. L. REEVES

Column Orders by Major G. L. REEVES

COMING SOUTH P. NATIVE POLICE

Rev. at 6.15 a.m.

5/7/05.

III. 1. A convoy under Lieut MCGILLID will escort by one  
Sect. No VII day to be detailed by Lt LEWISSON  
GOWER; a Det 1st H.A.R. will leave for GARRY'S  
HARD at 12 noon to-day.

84

I17. 3. 3 days rations (small bullocks) will be taken.

I18. 3. The Adj Transport Officer will accompany the Convoy which will consist of porters with all loads the Column can spare. 178

I19. 4. The Convoy after leaving loads at GRAY'S FARM will proceed to NEILSON'S FARM and return to GRAY'S with as many loads of food as it can move. It should reach GRAY'S 7th inst.

NEILSON'S 8th inst.

GRAY'S 8th "

By Order

Sgt. G.L.BARLOW Capt

After Orders.

I20. Sentries will be visited during the night under Coy arrangements.

I21. Reveille to-morrow 5 a.m.

By Order

Sgt. G.L.BARLOW Captain

Column Orders by Major POPE-HENNESSY

Coming SOTIK PUNITIVE FORCE

Camp at

7/7/05.

I22. Officers will visit their sentries under Coy arrangements.

I23. Reveille to-morrow 5 a.m. March at 6 a.m.

Order of march same as for to-day.

By Order

Sgt. G. L. BARLOW Capt

U.S. M.P.A.

Column Orders by Major POPE-HENNESSY

Coming SOTIK PUNITIVE FORCE

GRAY'S FARM

8/7/05.

I24. Each Coy will find I group consisting of I H.C.O & 6 men on its face of th square except No VI Coy which will find I Sect. as a Guard in the Cattle Zareba.

86

Groups will be visited once during the night under Coy arrangements.

I25. With the exception of the moves herein after 179 ordered the Column will remain at GREY'S FARM.

I26. The following details will move to NAIROBI via MOLO to-morrow leaving camp 6.30 a.m.

Major POPP-MENNESSY, Capt BARLOW

Mr McLELLAN, Lieut CARY, & NAIROBI Guards Det. Ist  
L.M.R. All signallers S.Y.K.A.H.

The following will march tomorrow NAIROBI to relieve No X Coy, which will then proceed to MAILOKI.

Lieut LEVISON GOWER with No VII Coy less Coy Signers; Coy Maxia Net Gun Detachment, less Gun Equipment to be handed over to No VI Coy. This party will march 6.30 a.m. NAIROBI Station porters will give Lieut LEVISON GOWER'S Det.

I27. Capt MAYCOCK will take over the Command of the Column on Major POPP-MENNESSY'S departure to-morrow, and will carry out the following

(a) Hand over to the ~~chiefs~~ now with the ~~BURET~~ Column 196 head of the ~~cattle~~ Cattle looted by us on the 13th June 05. These cattle will be an average of the cows, Bullocks & Bulls taken. He will keep a description of the character of each animal handed over, with an approximate value of each animal.

(b) Will ~~comply~~ compile an accurate return of all ~~now~~ Stock left over, classifying the animals according to their values.

(c) Telegraphic copies of these two returns will be rendered to O.C. NAIROBI without delay.

(d) On Lt MacLennan's return from NEILSON'S FARM he will be sent to NAIROBI the first opportunity.

(e) He will take steps to clear the Advanced Post at NEILSON'S FARM of all Government property, stores and rations now there.

- (7) He will forward to KIPICHO all MERICHO Civil police now at NEILSON'S or with the Column. 180
- (8) On completion of clearance of the base at NEILSON'S he will withdraw all K.A.R. details now there; those of No VII Coy rejoining their Coy at NANDI by march route.
- (9) He will relieve Det. No VII Coy now at MOLO by one of similar strength from No III Coy.
- (10) He will arrange for the transport by rail from NJUO to KIPICORI for NANDI, for the Det No VII Coy now at MOLO.
- (11) He will take over from the Staff Officer to lay all Officers rations received from NAIROBI and not issued. These will be issued on payment to Officers under arrangements to be made by Capt MAYOKE.
- (12) He will arrange for a system of daily runners between MOLO Station & GUY'S FARM.
- (13) He will detail a cattle grazing guard of not less than 50 rifles daily.
- actions. 128. Levies with the Column will be rationed on bullock or sheep whichever is the easier. Rank & File smelters will be rationed on grain.
129. A guard of no T.N.C.O. & 6 men No III Coy will take charge of all Government Stores now at MOLO Station. This guard will march to MOLO at 6.00 a.m. to escort when the S.O. will hand over to it the stores in question.
130. General Parade to be on 6th May  
Dress Drill Order.

By Order

Sd: G. L. RANLOW Capt

69

Force Orders by Major P.M. JONES  
Commanding 80/TK Punitive Force.

181

NAIROBI,

12th July 1905.

- I. Peace having been concluded with the SUDAN tribe the Punitive Force is now dissolved.  
Ammunition will be offloaded as under:
  - (a) Nos II & V Reg'd R.A.R. & Hospital.  
All ~~surplus~~ stores EXCLUDING military porters and allies,  
  
(b) All Colts stores & ammunition (less the ammunition required to bring No IX Coy up to 300 rounds per rifle for 180 rifles) will move from GATTIS FARM to NAI-ORI by rail from H.O.G. Station or provision of railway transport by arrangement to be made by the Adjutant 3rd R.A.R.  
  
(c) No IX Coy Art R.A.R. with KENYON station porters will move from GATTIS FARM to KENYON to assume garrison duty at that station on completion of the distribution of lost stores pending which it will remain at GATTIS FARM.
  - U. . No 9 Coy (after taking into account the ammunition received SUDAN PAY & KENYON) will draw from O.C. Troops GATTIS FARM sufficient stores ammunition to make his Coy up to 300 rounds per rifle for 180 rifles which is the total amount to be kept on his charge at O.C. KENYON detachment.
2. To release sufficient troopers for duty at the SUDAN Post the O.C. no IX Coy will take over such station garrisons and duties at KENYON as may be necessary.  
To release any details of Coys under orders from for NAI-ORI O.C. no IX Coy will take over any duties whose details may be performing.

KERICHO.

15th July 1905.

SIR,

I have the honour to inform you that I left here on the 5th ultimo accompanying No. II Column Sotik Punitive Expedition with five Lumbwa Chiefs and 285 Moran.

2. We arrived at Sotik on June 7th. No. I Column arrived on the 9th, and on the 10th 130 of the Lumbwa Moran were returned to Kericho to take there 1671 sheep and goats. As it was evident that a great number of the Sotik cattle had been driven across the Nongerise River (some were) Officer Commanding Sotik Punitive Force determined to proceed first in this direction in order to cut them off before they entered this country and the Column left the same morning. Unfortunately owing to the faulty intelligence of the Lumbwa who believed there were still a number of Sotik cattle near the Nongerise a day was wasted the Column camping on the Nongerise River. Next day we proceeded towards Ndani camping at Nutarshua, on the 12th on the Sisi River. On the 13th Flying Column was formed which camped at Ndani the Masai Company and Levies bringing in the same evening 690 head of Buret and Sotik cattle. On the 14th the flying Column returned to the Sisi Camp.

3. On the 15th instant the Legwanana of Buret, the Buret and Ndani Chiefs came to the camp. They admitted that a number of Sotik cattle had been driven into Buret and stated that they had been unable to prevent this. They

Sub-Commissioner,

Eisamu.

90

also offered to take us to Buret and show us these cattle.

4 On the 18th we went to Buret and on Arriving in camp the Legwernam of Buret and the Lubowa Devise started out to search for Sotik cattle. They returned at 9 p.m. with 351 head of cattle and 200 sheep and goats. The Lubowa remained in camp for 2 hours to feed and then again left the camp at 11 p.m. to search for more cattle.

5 Next day as the Lubowa did not return we made a short march in the afternoon and camped at the Kipseni.

6 On the morning of the 18th the Lubowa arrived with 58 head of cattle and 650 sheep and goats. They informed us that any Sotik cattle that remained in Buret were at a great distance as they had searched the country round thoroughly. We then returned to the main Column on the Sisai River.

7 On the 19th the Column returned towards Sotik. A number of the natives of Idani who had had their cattle taken and the Legwernam of Buret accompanied us. They had been promised that their cattle would be returned to them if they showed us where the Sotik cattle were. During the march the Lubowa captured a Sotik Moru and 60 head of cattle and the Nasai captured about the same number. The Sotik prisoner informed us that there was a very large herd of Sotik cattle close to Narow and the Legwernam confirmed this and offered to guide us there. On the 20th the Column divided one Company with the Lubowa leaving taking the captured cattle to Sotik Post, the main Column proceeding towards Narow and camping on the Nongorise. The Nasai brought in 200 sheep and goats. On the 21st we reached Narow during the commencement of the march we saw recent tracks of about 200 head of cattle but later on there appeared nothing but

old tracks. In the evening the Massai brought in 28 head of cattle. They reported no fresh traces of cattle and prisoners they captured confirmed this. I pointed out to the Legvenana and the Ward that their chance of getting back their cattle was by searching where the Botik had hidden them. They said <sup>only</sup> that they had had no difficulty in finding that we should find cattle there, that we had reached Narow there were no traces of any.

8 The Buret replied that it would be impossible to find any longer any large herds of cattle as they had all scattered in different directions. They asked that Gata and Botik might be searched and then that we should proceed to Golwa in Lamuwa Kau.

9 On the 22nd a Column was sent to search Gata while the remainder returned to the Botik Post.

10 On the 23rd we proceeded towards Golwa camping on the Kipsoni the Lamuwa Levies remaining at the Botik Post.

11 On the 24th a large number of fresh tracks of cattle were found leading into Buret and it was evident that the majority of the cattle that had been hidden round Golwa had been driven into Buret. In the afternoon some Lumban arrived from Kericho with mails and I obtained permission from the Officer Commanding to send them together with the Legvenana of Buret into that country to follow the Botik cattle.

12 On the 25th on our return to Botik Post the Lumban Levies with 30 packed bags went out to assist the Legvenana of Buret in looking for Botik cattle. On the same day the 2nd Column returned from Gata with 180 head of cattle and a number of sheep and goats.

13 On the 27th the Expedition started for Samwala. I

remained

92

remained at Sotik Post to await the return of the Lumbwa Levies.

14. On July 1st the Lumbwa returned having collected 500 head of cattle about 1,000 sheep and goats and 2 Sotik prisoners. These men and other prisoners brought from Sakumnia informed me that the Sotik were anxious to come in to make peace but were afraid to do so for fear lest they might be killed on the road by Masai and I therefore wrote to the Officer Commanding informing him of this and requesting leave to send out the prisoners to tell the Sotik they could come in. To this he assented. On July 2nd ten Sotik arrived in camp. They took out no evidence of the prisoners and stated that the Sotik would agree to my terms in order to make peace. They however said that as the Sotik were hidden in the forests at great distances it would take a long time before any number of them could be collected.

15. On July 3rd the Expedition left to drive down the lost taken to Gray's farm. In the afternoon 2 Chiefs Arab Mastonet and Arab Mangarendwa came in. They informed that before No. 1 Column had reached the Sotik Post, the old Chief Arab Keldet had gone to meet the Expedition with grass on his bow and ostrich feathers in his hand as a sign of peace. He was met by Masai Moran and speared. I informed these two chiefs that if they desired peace the first thing they should do was to bring in (1) all the Masai women and children (2) any Masai cattle left in Sotik (3) all guns in their possession (4) any ivory they had. They agreed to these but said they only knew of 4 guns remaining, all the others having been converted into spears as they had no ammunition. They also said that there was very little

ivory

GB

ivory in Sotik.

16. The people from Ndani whose cattle had been taken also came in. It was found that in all 580 head of cattle had been taken from about 60 people. I explained to them that after their allowing the Sotik cattle to enter their country they could not expect to have all their cattle returned to them but I told them they could have one-third and the remainder would probably be confiscated. They agreed to the justice of this and with 2 police started off after the Column. After going little way however they appear to have become frightened of the Sotik and the majority returned. About half a dozen however went on and these men received back all their own cattle to the number of 185 head. The men who ran away have not of course received any. On July the 7th about 50 Sotik arrived bringing in 3 Masai women 2 Masai children 3 Wandering children 1 tusk of ivory and 1 gun. On July 9th Arab Mastomes and Arab Mangarandwa and about 60 Sotik arrived, they brought in another gun and another tusk of ivory. They stated that the majority of the Sotik were still in hiding not knowing that the troops had left. They asked for a month in which to first bring back their women and children from the forests and then to collect the Masai cattle guns etc. They said that they would bring all these into Kericho within the month and asked me to say that peace was declared. I told them that so long as they carried out these and any other conditions or fines that might be fixed there would be no further fighting. I then sent a letter reporting this by Sotik runners to the Officer Commanding and on the 10th instant started for Kericho. I

had

94

had been given 623 sheep and goats for distribution to the Lambwa Levies at the rate of 3 sheep a man. A great number of these were kids whose mothers had been driven to Njoro and I was therefore delayed a day. In spite of the short marches made, I found it impossible that nearly 150 of these sheep died on the road.

17 On the 12th I arrived at Kericho and on the 13th disbanded the Levies. I explained to them that they were to receive 3 goats each. They replied that the goats were all males and most of them small being worth about 2 rupees each and that they thought the pay was little. When I agreed to the Major Commanding's decision that the Lambwa should receive 3 goats each I imagined, as no doubt he did, that they would be at least half females. The Lambwa have not therefore yet been given the goats and I have told them to select a few men to come with me to Nairobi when they can put the case before you.

18 Returning to the Sotik I do not think the punishment inflicted on them to have been in any way excessive or that any of their sotik should be returned to them. At the same time I think they should be given help in tiding over what will be a time of famine to some of them in exchange for work. I have the honour to request that if possible a sum of £100 may be allocated after the sale of the cattle for temporarily feeding any people who will come in to Sotik and work. They might be employed in improving the native paths. The majority of these would be women. They would be given no pay but supplied with food in return for their work.

19 I have also the honour to request that another sum of £100 may be granted for supplying the natives with seed

and for the cost of a small experimental shamba from which the natives can learn how to plant these. I have already proved that potatoes, Indian corn and ground nuts will all do exceedingly well in Sotik, none of these are as yet known to the Sotik whose only crops like that of the Lumbwa is Wymbi. The Sotik having a quantity of Bantu blood are I think much more likely to become an agricultural people than are the Lumbwa. If they are given the opportunity and make use of it, I think in a few years' time they may have regained all their former prosperity. I will add that the Expedition which had just been concluded against them, has been a blessing to them.

I have, &c., &c.,  
(Signed) H. B. Partington,  
Collector.

*Pure & Simple*

MEDICAL REPORT.

On

190

Setik Punitive Expedition.

Acting under orders - I proceeded to Kericho on May 27th to take medical charge of column No. 11. of the Setik punitive force, which consisted of No. 11 Co. S. K. A. R. and 12th Gurkha Rifles and about 80 porters. The column had been sent to punish the Maasai who had arrived at Kericho on the 24th inst. - the march was

fairly long & over very hilly country, which is extremely well watered and spa. populated - the Embonk Soudo and the Nongareeso were the most important rivers that were crossed - the former practically draining the whole of the Jumbe country and the latter the setik hills. The distance covered in the above time may be put at about 45 miles.

Column No. 1. from Ejere arrived on the 9th and on the following day, the whole column left Setik Post to pursue & finish the enemy.

The country, in which operations were carried out, is characterized by high hills in the north & eastern portion, and plains in the west & south west; the former are practically the lower slopes of the Amale country, well wooded with open patches of grazing land and contain the only two important rivers in Setik - the Nongareeso and the Amale ~~Amale~~ - they both run through a dense forest for several miles and eventually join near the Boundary Line and the main river then flows due north into German territory & finally empties itself into Lake Victoria.

The plain portion of Setik consists of rolling down very fertile and studded with clumps of trees & bush, ~~it is~~ <sup>GB</sup> the "biggest" ~~biggest~~ <sup>biggest</sup> hill district ~~district~~ <sup>district</sup> on the plains - a good many salt licks were noticed,

and presence is superior  
and the grazing, consisting of ~~the~~ clover to other  
on the hills; in fact it may be considered as one of  
the finest grazing lands in the Protectorate.

The actual area of occupation by the Sotik is not 191  
great about 40 miles long by 20 miles across.

Sotik Post is about 6,300 feet above sea-level and  
like  
this other parts of the Protectorate in this altitude,  
possesses a dry & bracing climate - it lies midway  
between the hills and the plains - the former rise to  
about 6,000 feet & the latter gradually fall away to  
about 5,000 feet, no mosquitoes were noticed at any  
time in the district. The rainfall I imagine, is not  
so heavy as in the Lumbwa district - only a few thunderstorms were experienced during marches.

After careful consideration, it was decided that the  
present site of Sotik Post would be most suitable for  
a permanent station. It is situated on the east side  
of the Mongaresso river and stands on high ground  
about 400 yards from the bank - the river is a strong  
flowing mountain stream and quite pure for drinking  
purposes. Behind the station, the hill country begins,  
starting with a long ridge, <sup>running</sup> from north to south and  
forms an admirable protection from cold winds - there  
is also an abundant supply of timber and firewood in  
the neighbourhood. The soil is of a red colour, perhaps  
& most suitable for agriculture - English vegetables  
have been grown with great success.

Judging from the number of huts that were burnt during  
operations - the total population may be roughly  
estimated about 5,000.

The natives of Sotik - Burut and Lumbwa seem to have  
one common language and are closely related to each  
other by intermarriage - they do not live in villages  
like the Kavirondo people - apparently each wife has  
her own establishment, consequently ~~was~~ was the whole  
country side dotted with huts.

The Setik people prefer the sides of the hills to the plains, which are chiefly used for grazing their cattle during certain seasons. They subsist entirely on milk and a small black grain like canary seed called "Wombie" - it is grown in patches on the slopes and the women grind it between two stones into flour, which I believe is very nourishing & wholesome. They do not cultivate any of the other native products such as bananas, sweet potatoes, manioc & Indian corn - all of which could be cultivated in large quantities. The average Setik male is well developed, long and muscular limbs, broad chest, the face is peculiar, the forehead slopes to the nose, skull small, long nose & broad at the base and large lower jaw. The lobes of the ear are disfigured in a manner similar to the Wikinys. They perform circumcision, simply by drawing out the foreskin & dividing it with a sharp knife.

The females are shorter in stature with ugly features and cloth themselves with skins - they marry young & a bride is generally valued at from 5 to 5 cows which are handed over to the father.

Their weapons of warfare are a spear - shield & short sword, which are carried by the El. Moran - bows & arrows are generally used by the elders.

Situated along the southern portion of Setik country there is a vast dense forest which forms a natural protection from parties raiding into their country - Both the Amble & the Nangarase wind their way through the forest for a long distance. A considerable quantity of valuable rubber vines was noticed along these rivers. The vegetation in the ravines was luxuriant in every state & form, magnificent tree forms were found those growing to quite 20 feet high.

Bamboo is to be met with in the forests lying to the north,

The principal  
100

The principal valuable trees to be found in the forests are the wild olive - juniper & cedar.

193

Very little game was seen on the plains, no doubt they had been frightened away by the natives previous to our arrival - A few K. Topi and common Reed-buck were met with - I am told that large herds of game generally frequent the ravines near Mauve Hill.

Rhino tracks were common along the valley of the river. There is a marked absence of bird - life all over the country specially so on the hills & plateaux, where the silence of nature is most impressive, but here one meets with a wonderful variety of horse flies - in fact I do not think that I have ever come across such a collection in other parts of this country. I regret not having had a net, as I feel sure there are several new species to be found there.

A Return of sick & wounded is herewith attached - the whole Force was comprised of the following :-

Officers	14
3 K. A. R. No. III Coy.	100
"    " VI. " "	100
"    " VII. " "	100
"    " VIII. " "	100
Native Levies Masai	615
"    " Lumbwa	225
Porters	240
Sotik prisoners	24
Camp followers	40
Grand Total	1,628

Will cases of poisoned arrows occurred amongst the Masai - one case ended fatally in five - minutes - the arrow had penetrated the right lung from behind, the poison didn't appear to be fresh & I rather think that death was due to fright & shock complicated by Pneumothorax. In the other cases, the poison had no effect whatever, it appeared to be old & dried up.

fresh poison is usually sticky & soft.

An amputation of the right arm was successfully performed upon a Lamia native below the shoulder joint the humerus had been shattered to pieces by a Martini bullet.

### THINKS ON

### PEASING DISEASES THEIR CAUSES.

On the whole, I consider that the general health of the Troops was most satisfactory, as on several occasions they were obliged to perform forced - marches & slept out in the open without any carrying - they suffered principally from Bronchitis - Diarrhoea was also very common amongst the Troops & porters, and was undoubtedly due to the inferior <sup>and</sup> times of mean flour instead of rice.

The other prevailing diseases met with among the Force were contusions & ulcers on feet - they were caused by, rough marching in the forests where great difficulties were met with in carrying loads over narrow muddy tracks.

I should also like to add the following remarks & suggestions regarding the medical equipment attached to the expedition.

1.). Medicines - I was obliged to draw upon Kericho dispensary for Liniment Turpentine, Liniment Iodine & magnes. sulphate - the first two are indispensable to a large force, which is obliged to make fatiguing and long marches with loads in rough country.

The following instruments etc are also absolutely necessary :-

Syringes.

Stethoscope.

Tooth forceps.

Bar speculum.

Ruginsons forceps.

Bed - pan.

Hospital India blankets for the sick.

102

Regarding stretchers - they were found to be most unsuitable for carrying the sick in a country like Sotik fm and in fact they were discarded in the Bamboo Forest, as it was impossible for the bearers to follow the track. I should strongly recommend the ordinary naval hammock ~~and~~ a bamboo pole or raffia palm to be used in future expeditions - it is light in weight and takes only two men to carry it.

(Signed) Henry A. Bealeker.

Medical Officer,  
I/C

Sot ~~initive~~ <sup>Form</sup> ~~FM~~

Makuru,

24 July '05.

*John A. Bealeker  
24 July '05.*

195

Report on the Topography etc. of SOTIK & surrounding country.

196

SOTIK is a district lying at a considerable elevation 6000 to 7000 ft on the S.W. slopes of the MAU plateau. It is about 40 miles long from N.W. to S.E. and about 16 miles in width. The main portion is enclosed by the River PONDO or NONGAKIS to the W. & N. by the MAU forest to the E. and by the densely wooded plain of Homa. This is traversed by the ANALA river flowing to the S.

There is a strip of an outlying portion of the N.W. across the MERU River stretching up and beyond KOTIKA Hill. Here, the population is very thin. The country consists of a succession of ridges with very steep faces, all covered with thick forest. Between these ridges are deep, winding, ravines choked with dense vegetation. The inhabitants have cleared small patches of forest and made "shambas". These people appear to be by far the most suspicious and wild section of the KENYA. They have a few sheep and goats.

SOTIK is peopled by an off-shoot of the LUMBEA-KENYI race, speaking the same language - of I believe, Nilotic origin, and having similar institutions and customs. They seem however to be the least developed and indeed, in the scale of civilisation of the LUMBEA peoples. This may have been caused by the remoteness of their country and the hospitable nature of the districts surrounding it, cutting them off from contact with other tribes of superior development i.e. the KENYI.

In appearance, features etc. they are of a very low type, more so I think than any other East African tribes.

tribes, with the exception perhaps of the WADIGO and other aboriginal tribes living near the coast.

They live in huts toted singly and in pairs, all 197 over the country. These huts are of medium size, motion, and contain only one room, some 5' 6" high. They are built of the usual wattle material and are roofed with thatch nearly a foot thick of boughs underneath, then brush or branches, then coarse straw and finally with a layer of grass on the top. The single room has an open ceiling of lath like sticks stretching across and resting on the side wall, the roof space thus forming a storeroom and dormitory.

The ground floor apparently is given up to the sheep and so is at night. AP

Access to the interior is gained by a small opening at ordinary. A low room for a man to crawl in on all fours, this is closed by a slab of wood hewn out of a minute tree and secured by a wooden box.

The smoke of fires of course finds its way out through the thatch.

The hut floors are very rough and irregular and are rarely made of earth.

There are no stores. The cattle two huts of which the women are off from.

The huts are seldom surrounded by any kind of fence, the inhabitants not fearing attack.

It is very difficult to get any estimate at all of the numbers of inhabitants, owing to the scattered nature of the country and the isolation of huts. I do not however think that the population is more than 10,000 including 1000 men.

There are 4 or 5 Chiefs who have a more or less negligible authority over sections of the country; though there seems to be but little organization amongst them.

Their fighting men are armed with spears of the usual

leaf pattern and bows and arrows, the latter of various shapes and designs; some of them poisoned. They also have "sime" or short swords attached in 198 scabbards to narrow leather belts which are embroidered with distinctive designs in beads. They cultivate in a very rudimentary way, clearing forest and fields; their open air fresh crop, "Fischi" again noting I' S" to 5' high is their main crop, the only other which is noted are pumpkins and these are scarce.

Sheep and goats are very numerous, every one appearing to have a herd, they are however a small herd of a poor breed in comparison with those in the MASA and PAVIADO. They are kept in the hills in SOYIK proper, and ~~pasture~~ graze in the bush near the hills. Very numerous for the size of the country, and of excellent quality. I think there are about 600 head belonging to the country of which 1500 were captured by the expedition. The cattle do not live in SOYIK proper, or at any rate but few of them, but on the excellent pasture lands to the south & east in the plains of the forest beyond them. On these plains cattle raids are numerous, each 100 is herdsmen's meat.

The MURU also pasture their cattle in the same districts.

The SOYIK are poor craftsmen, being unable to forge and weld their own spears or swords. These are either captured from other tribes or purchased from MANT or KUMI smiths. One of these was met with in the country.

Some coils of rope were found in nets, and there was much discussion as to its origin, as it was very well made and like European rope, but that was two thousand fathoms of lines.

SOYIK proper consists of rounded, hog-backed ridges originally covered with the dense HAU forest, but now

now only isolated clumps of the former remain, the rest of the country being clothed with a matted growth of soft-leaved, fast growing bush, which is almost immeasurable and grows to a height of some 15 feet. This growth marks the site of former savannas, which have given way to rank rank after clearing. Between each ridge is a series of pools, clear, cold water; either running towards the Mungo River or the AYAK. These pools form some 10 miles of the south east side of the Mungo River, the northeast rivers flowing into the Vicksburg on the sides and branching off to the right opposite the Lunda. All sub-streams are subject to sudden floods owing to the clay bottom of the country and the rapid fall of the water on them.

From the south of the westernmost and highest of these ridges one can look over a flat level plain stretching as far as the eye can reach, all westwards to the low line of the KAMUVA hills running N.E., some 15 to 20 miles away.

The surface of this intervening plain is broken by several isolated conical hillocks, covered with

scrub. To the N.E. these hillocks fall suddenly away to a great ravine like depression a depth of about 100 feet, filled with sandy soil, by steps to the N.E. and S.E.

The main "Koba" is covered with a dense and tangled forest of low and scrubby trees among which vicious creepers climb and intertwine, growing to the thickness of a man's arm. Their thorns are numerous and sharp and the work of cutting down and laborious.

A little above this, 10m and laterally a broad, low line extends to the N.E. along the KAMUVA hills, like the forest "Mata" from the vast unbroken level of dark jungle slopes.

199

**MEJICO:** The ~~name~~ itself in the NOK language means the place where a man gets lost.

**CHIAPAS:** It is familiar, like a few MEXICO who follow one 200 elements to see it twice now.

The name is lies, the Spanish is country again bearing heavily by day, but you can't see it; the alluvial river bed dipping easternly up hill and the bare slopes of the mountains to its western.

the country of the YUK continues far between the hills and the forest are scattered remains extending in patches far into the forest of coniferous trees. The alluvium consists of very poor soil and very well.

and to the hills there are no roads to among them. There is a pass to the south, but the numerous clumps of brush material return to the small river and S.E. to the isolated village.

There is a lot of water, the river one to extend. This distance is nearly miles for 25 miles in the valley. It is enough to support more than the population of the valley.

This is the source of all the rivers of the basin, which are, with the exception of the TLAZULTEPEC, the CHIAPAS, the CUCHILLO, the RIO DEL DIOS, the RIO DE LOS LAGOS, the RIO DE LA HABLA Valley.

There is a lot of water, the river one to extend. This distance is nearly miles for 25 miles in the valley. It is enough to support more than the population of the valley.

This is the source of all the rivers of the basin, which are, with the exception of the TLAZULTEPEC, the CHIAPAS, the CUCHILLO, the RIO DEL DIOS, the RIO DE LOS LAGOS, the RIO DE LA HABLA Valley.

Its S.E. slopes towards MEXICO and many fine trees of great height and girth, principally Junipers, a hard wood of great aromatic wood, with a fine resin, and I suppose of great commercial value.

comes however to the lack of big rivers on this slope  
which would probably be very costly to work, except in  
a few parts close to the railway. Besides these there  
are other great trees of a coniferous description. 201  
There also seems to be a great quantity of differ-  
ent plants which exude a white viscid juice and  
which may be gather vines.

At an elevation of about 8700 feet

there is a great variety of

plants, some of which are quite common on the plateau

between the 8000 and 9000 feet.

The slopes lower down are said to be covered to  
the top with a great number of low

and small shrubs of not

very great height.

The climate on the A.T. is very different

from that of the N.W. The trees are

of a different character and have a more

markedly alpine character than those

on the N.W. They are especially

characterized by their alpinity;

they are accustomed to "willows", "willow

and "herbaceous vegetation" but which has

been replaced by a great number of ferns 20 or 30 feet

in height, which are usually kept to

the water, and the ferns also, are long and

have a great number of roots.

On the A.T. there are many large trees and

the forest is very dense and not open like

the foresting a great number of smaller

trees and shrubs are also present.

On the A.T. the forest is also, generally

more like a scrub forest, and its general char-

acteristics are those of the old forest before

the fire.

While on the A.T. it is evident as elevation the climate

is more and more temperate.

The sun is fierce in the middle of the day, but the heat does not last.

On the KAN it is often utterly cold at night, with gales & sleet. and the air is cold and dark till 10 o'clock or so in the morning.

The rainfall is good though not very heavy, perhaps 30 or 40 inches a year. In July precipitation 80 inches, and during 1900-1901, averaged 100 inches, but the rainfall is uneven & less than 20 inches.

The rainy seasons are brief & do not last all year. The country is dry & dusty in winter, but the rainfall is uneven & less than 20 inches.

The main river bed of the KAN at least seems to be made of limestone of varying degrees of fineness, and is well covered with thin layers of red clay. The water of the main channel is muddy and dirty in wet weather. Concrete walls here "trap" sand & other material which seems to cover the limestone. Near the mouth, extending about 10 miles upstream, a great overwash of sand is deposited on the KAN and probably KUWA.

At the mouth, there is a large blue water pool. It contains water which has been impounded by a dam across the river. This is a series of successive obstacles, before reaching the outlet, consisting of a series of small islands. There are iron deposits in the valley formerly worked by the Chinese. The water is called "the white river" because of the sand.

The KUWA RIVER lies on the N. edge of KUWA country, and here it flows in a path leading straight to TONI, about 40 miles. This, I think, is much the best approach to TONI. Its great drawback is the number of trains to be crowded into one road bridge. KUWA is 10 days from TONI TONI.

KUWA RIVER is 1 day from the railway. A route might be opened up from KUWA TONI, and should however be

80 miles or so long and traverses a country with very few inhabitants.

I do not think that at present the country offers many inducements to settlers, as it is too late remote and communications are bad; whilst there is no labour to be obtained locally. The only form of enterprise which might be very successful is trapping, while ranching on a small scale, as the country is so well suited to this kind of stock. Food and water all being abundant and good, the natives however might be induced gradually to improve their cultivation & adopt foodstuffs other than the universal "wimbi".

(Signed) JOHN LEVISON-GOWER Agent

6rd K. A. Mifles.

THURSDAY August 8th. 1895.

# EAST AFRICA & UGANDA PROTECTORATES.

204

Monthly Sick Return for the month of June & July 1905 at Sotek

Station,

Disease	Brought forward			Brought forward			Brought forward				
	Deaths	Died In Hospital	Discharged dead	In Hospital	Died In Hospital	Discharged dead	In Hospital	Died In Hospital	Discharged dead		
<b>Brought forward</b>											
<b>DIGESTIVE SYSTEM</b>	- 452	- 9910	4	- 2003	- 33270	5	- 6414	- 6211	10		
Abdomen: dental				Apothecy							
2 Liver				Chorea							
Cirrhosis				Convulsions							
Colic				Epilepsy							
Colitis				Fainting							
Constipation				Malaria							
Diarrhoea		- 70		Meningitis							
Dyspepsia		- 91		Nervousness							
Enteritis				Paroxysms							
Fever in unknown				Rheumatism							
Gastritis				Scurvy							
Hepatitis				Scrofula							
Hemorrhoids				Tuberculosis							
Jaundice				<b>Poisons</b>							
Rectorrhaphy				<b>Pneumonia</b>							
Sciatica				Apoplexy							
Stomach: -				Chorea							
Loss of Stomach				Convulsions							
Ulcer & Ulcers				Epilepsy							
Tonsillitis				Fainting							
Tuberculosis				Malaria							
Typhus				Scrofula							
Varicose Veins				Tuberculosis							
Visceral Disease				<b>Paroxysms</b>							
Inflammation of External Mouth				Aphex							
Tonsillitis				Bruxism							
Ulcer of Mouth				Convulsions							
Middle Ear Disease				Exophtalmus							
EYE -				Hysteria							
Cataract				Leprosy							
Conjunctivitis				Malaria							
Glaucoma				Malnutrition							
Iritis				Measles							
ORGANIC SYSTEM				Meningitis							
HYDROPS				Malaria							
Orchitis: non-gonococcal		- 3		Measles							
Pneumothorax				Mumps							
Phlebitis				Pneumonia							
Stricture of Uterus				Plague							
Tuberculosis of Uterus				Poisonous Plants							
Urinary				Small Pox							
ENDOCRINE SYSTEM				Small Pox (Chick)							
CARBONIC SYSTEM				Small Pox (Human)							
Cystitis				Skin Disease							
Myxedema		- 10		Bullous							
Neuritis				Crabs, Crabs							
Osteitis				Chiggers							
Osteoporosis				Diseases of Skin							
LARVACEOUS SYSTEM				Endemic							
INFLAMMATION OF Lymph Glands				Erysipelas							
Splenitis				Leprosy							
Total reported cases	- 1152	- 9910	4	Total admitted cases	- 3503	- 33270	5	Grand Total	- 6418	- 6211	10

## 1. Admissions by Nationality -

	Remained.	Admitted.	Died.	Discharged.	Remaining.
Europeans	—	57	—	5	—
French	—	296	—	290	—
Swiss & Portuguese	—	—	—	—	—
Afghans	—	340	8	322	10
TOTALS	—	641	8	623	10

## 2. Prevailing diseases among —

Europeans } Bronchitis, Catarrh -

3 K.A.R. } Bronchitis, Diarrhoea, Constipation  
Afghans } Ulcers, Confusions -

## 3. Deaths —

	Disease.	Date of admission.	Date of death.	Place of death.
Europeans	mild	mild	mild	mild
3 K.A.R.	mild	mild	mild	mild
Afghans	Dysentery	2	Pneumonia	2
Before 1st November	Bronchitis	1	Poisoned	2
			arrow	Gun shot p.

A Death Report will be rendered in every fatality.

## 4. Remarks on diseases —

One of these cases contracted Pneumonia and died about 12 days, receiving arrow wound.

## 5. Sanitary condition of station and vicinity —

Reconnaissances made locally of a sanitary or other nature affecting the health of the station stating how they have been acted on —

(Signed) H. A. Boddeker M.O. 46

Signed.

Sotik Punitive Force.

## PUBLIC RECORD OFFICE.

205

One Document, being map of Stik and surrounding  
country.

has been removed to

MAP 1007

30.5.66

AAA Kingbridge

Comm  
33230

S.A.P.

207

8 December 1905

DRAFT

Sir:

Africa Protection

No. 549

Leave the hon. to

O.R.G.

ack. Present & to

MINUTE.

Mr. Anthony [initials] Mr. [initials]

Donald Munro signs

Mr. Read [initials]

No. 454 of the 14<sup>th</sup> of

Mr. Antrolam [initials]

Mr. Cox.

August last, and to

Mr. Lucas.

express to you my

Mr. Graham.

satisfaction at the

Sir M. O'Meara.

result of his action

The Duke of Marlborough.

against the [redacted] I have

Mr. Lyttelton.

acted with pleasure to

the minute

terms on which he

for 23 Nov 1905  
F.S. (W.Africa) 10/10/05  
(S. 4724/05 4/05)

S. Stewart referred to  
the good work done

17 68-10

operations should  
be rendered with a  
view to publication in  
the London Gazette  
or to the grant of  
military rewards. I  
also enclose a copy of  
despatch which was  
sent to the Government  
and High Commissioners  
of the West African  
Colonies and Protectorate.

1. On the 25<sup>th</sup> of  
November 1902, Enclosure  
set forth regulations  
on the same subject.
2. New regulations  
will be inserted, with  
the verbal modifications

CD/47224/04  
6 Apr

Conn  
33230

S.A.P.

88

207

DRAFT.

South Africa Protectorate

No. 549

Sir:

8 December 1905

Shall be honor to

O.A.G.

ack. receipt of his

MINUTE.

Mr. Nathan 7/1/12 W.H. Donat Stewart signs

Mr. Read 7

No. 454 of the 14<sup>th</sup> of

Mr. Antrobus

Mr. Cox

Mr. Lucas

Mr. Graham

Sir M. Omannay

The Duke of Marlborough

Mr. Lyttelton

in the month

August last and to

express by my

satisfaction at the

result of the operation

which he took I have

acted with pleasure the

terms on which he

D. Stewart reported

the good work done

for 3/3 Nov. 1911

(South Africa) 25/11/11  
(G.S. (D.A.P.) 25/11/11  
(W.H. 25/11/11)

L7 68-40 [ ]

Major Cape Mounted  
in the command of  
the expedition.  
2. I take the oppor-  
tunity to transmit  
to your City of a  
Circular despatch  
which was addressed  
by my predecessor to  
the Officer commanding  
the Guards of the Queen's  
Colours and Protectors  
dated on the 25th of  
November 1891, on the  
subject of the annual  
mobilisation and deployment  
of field operations

operations should  
be rendered with a  
view to publication in  
the London Gazette  
and the grant of  
military rewards. I  
also enclose a copy of  
a despatch which was  
sent to the Governor  
and High Commissioners  
of the West African  
Colonies and Protectorates  
on the 25th of  
November 1892, enclosing  
revised regulations  
on the same subject.  
3. New regulations  
will be issued, with  
the usual modifications.